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Highlights 2005

Branding process in Sweden in 2005

Acquistion of Vestfold Butikkdata AS (Software)

Contract in Denmark with Odense Municipality (Services)

Establishment of Visma Advantage AB (Visma F&P) 

Branding
All Visma companies in Sweden participated in a large re-branding  
programme during 2005. An extra investment of NOK 10 million was 
made to increase awareness and knowledge of the Visma brand in 
Sweden. Intensive advertising in newspapers, on billboards and on  
television had great impact in the market, and there is no doubt that 
Visma is now a brand well-known to our primary target groups.  
There is considerably greater interest and more enquiries from  
potential and existing customers, and seminars in Q4 2005 were  
fully booked.

A similar branding activity will be implemented in the other Nordic 
countries, continuing with Norway in 2006.

Financial calendar
All financial presentations are open and streamed on web.
All financial presentations are held at Hotel Continental in Oslo - 08:00 CET
 
Results of 4 quarter 2005
24 January 2006

Results of 1 quarter 2006
19 April 2006

Results of 2 quarter 2006
7 July 2006

Results of 3 quarter 2006
11 October 2006
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Key Figures Visma Group ifrs ifrs nGAAp nGAAp nGAAp

Profit and loss 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

operating revenues noK mill 1 907 1 666 1 340 1 152 831
revenue growth % 14.5 24.3 16.4 38.6
ebiTDA noK mill 258 224 183 142 83
ebiTDA margin % 13.5 13.5 13.6 12.4 10.0
net profit/loss after tax noK mill 132 208 202 110 74
net profit margin % 6.9 12.5 15.1 9.6 8.8
net cash flow from operations noK mill 287 239 192 160 55

Shares

earnings per share noK 3.90  6.55  6.27  3.31  2.60 
Dividend per share noK 3.00  2.75  2.25  1.50  1.00 
Dividend ratio % 77 42 36 45 38

share price as of 31 December noK 100.0 76.50 67.00 39.90 74.00
market capitalisation as of  31 December noK mill 3 200 2 390 2 093 1 247 2 020
number of shares as of 31 December mill shares 32.00 31.24 31.24 31.24 27.30

Equity 

Total equity noK mill 1 378 1 215 1 046 933 625
equity ratio % 61 63 65 68 61

Employees

Group total as of 31 December Headcount 2 347 2 097 1 758 1 749 1 570

Revenue distribution
per business area 2005

F&P Services

Software

Services

EBITDA distribution
per business area 2005

F&P Services

Software

Services

Client distribution
per business area 2005

F&P Services

Software

Services



Visma ASA
Holding Company

Visma Software
ERP
CRM

E-commerce

Visma Services
Accounting &

Payroll
Outsourcing

Visma F&P Services
Debt Collection

Procurement
Temp services

Software training
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Visma in short

Visma was founded in 1996, as a result of the merger between the two 
software companies multisoft As and specTec AsA. A new merger 
followed the year after between Visma and Dovre 
informasjonssystemer As. An integration period followed, and from 
1997 to 1999, the three divisions, Visma business, Visma marine and 
Visma logistics were shaped. in this period Visma also established its 
position as a world-wide provider of software.

Visma has gone through a lot of changes since then, and we have 
widened our range of services from being a software provider to 
become a leading nordic supplier with a complete product portfolio 
developed for our customers to contribute to their growth and success. 
our portfolio includes software, services related to finance, accounting 
and non-procurement, work flow, administrative purchasing, 
recruitment, training and debt collecting. 

Today the Visma group comprises three business areas, represented by 
the divisions, Visma software, Visma services and Visma financial & 
productivity service and at the end of 2005, Visma had 2 347 
employees. The total group revenues in 2005 were noK 1.9 million. 

The group is headquartered in oslo, norway, and is represented with 
offices in over 70 nordic cities in addition to over 1 000 distributors. 
This network of employees and distributors serve 200 000 clients of 
different sizes and with different needs on daily basis. 

SimPliFiEd 
BuSinESS

nORdiC 
GROwTH
 
 
SimPliFiEd BuSinESS
Being able top focus on your 
business development is an im-
portant success factor. Visma 
wants to contribute to your suc-
cess by offering products and 
services designed to improve 
and simplify business process-
es, ease management and op-
eration, and give you more time 
available to concentrate on cus-
tomers, products and employ-
ees.

nORdiC GROwTH
Our customers’ competitiveness 
and future success depend on 
efficiency. In many businesses, 
simplification and automation are 
necessary to achieve increased 
efficiency. Visma provides both 
simplification and automation, 
which is important to enable  
Nordic growth for Visma and our 
customers.
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The Group CEO’s Comments
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The business climate in the Nordic 
countries developed favourably during 
2005. In all the markets where Visma 
operates - Denmark, Finland, Norway 
and Sweden – GDP developed better 
than in the remainder of Western Eu-
rope. With more than 200 000 com-
panies as customers, both small and 
large, both public and private, and in 
most vertical segments, Visma benefit-
ed from this development as well. 

PROFiTABlE GROwTH in FOCuS
During the difficult years from 2001 
through 2003, most companies fo-
cused on cost control. Gradually dur-
ing 2004 and clearly in 2005 the focus 
returned to growth, but unlike the dot-
com craze, most companies are now 
combining growth with profitability. 
The dramatic growth in profitability is 
based on substantial growth in produc-
tivity, to a large extent due to efficient 
utilisation of computing, communica-
tion and software. Most companies 
are however getting closer to their opti-
mum mode of operation, and the need 
to hire either employees or consultants 
is increasing. Unemployment is de-
creasing, and in the IT-industry we see 
a growing demand for IT-consultants, 
especially within the ERP- and CRM-
sectors. In the coming years, compa-
nies will make substantial investments 
in IT and software to improve their pro-
ductivity further, and to be able to meet 
increasing demand from their custom-
ers.

THE nORdiC AdVAnTAGE
The composition of the Nordic econo-
mies is quite diverse, and most indus-
tries of the world are represented in 
the combined Nordic market. Raw ma-
terials, energy, manufacturing, phar-
maceutical, agriculture, fishing, engine-
ering, shipping, construction, financial 
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bodies is increasingly becoming elec-
tronic and Net-based, and e-commerce 
is showing fast growth.

wORld ClASS PROduCTiViTy 
Visma has a mission to facilitate the 
process of keeping Nordic compa-
nies and Nordic societies competi-
tive through automation of adminis-
trative processes. Even with high la-
bour costs, a high tax level and barri-
ers to offshoring, Nordic companies 
have achieved world-class productivity 
through investment in modern ERP- 
and CRM-solutions. Even small and 
medium-sized companies have access 
to advanced automation and workflow 
solutions from Visma.

COTinuEd nORdiC GROwTH
In 2005, Visma has continued expan-
sion and acquisition within areas with 
strong growth potential in the Nordic 
markets. Visma Collectors in Sweden 
is the most cost-efficient debt- and in-
voice-collection company in Sweden, 
with about 15 per cent market share. 
Visma Proceedo provides a market-
leading procurement portal and work-

flow solution covering the whole proc-
ess from procurement needs to elec-
tronic invoices. Visma Advantage has 
more than doubled its procurement 
services revenue with the acquisitions 
of Ibistic and Edium AS/AB. Through 
the acquisition of Vestfold Butikk Da-
ta, Visma now supplies point-of-sale 
and in-store management solutions for 
about 50 per cent of the Norwegian 
food-retail market. 

At the end of 2005, the Visma Group 
had 2 347 employees and revenues in 
excess of NOK 1 900 million. 2005 has 
been a year of progress for both Visma 
and the Nordic economies. The outlook 
for 2006 is exciting as investments in 
solutions for electronic commercial 
documents, automation of administra-
tion and CRM solutions are accelerat-
ing. Both Visma and Nordic business 
will benefit from Nordic growth.

Øystein Moan
CEO
Visma ASA

services, consumer products, profes-
sional services are all represented in 
abundance. In addition, the public sec-
tors are large and well-developed. For 
Visma, operating in a pan-Nordic mar-
ket represents a hedge against cycles 
in different markets. This is one expla-
nation why Visma has improved its rev-
enues and profits each year from 2000 
through 2005. 

THE nORdiC CHAllEnGE
The diverse business structure of the 
Nordic region, the well-educated work 
force, the high participation of both 
men and women and a well-function-
ing public sector have provided an en-
vironment for economic growth and 
adaptability to change. However, the 
Nordic economies also face challeng-
es concerning competing in a global 
market. Minimum salaries and taxes 
are high, public welfare is very expen-
sive, the home markets are small, and 
the local languages are not widely spo-
ken outside the Nordic countries. Due 
to the small scale of both business and 
the languages, offshoring of back-of-
fice and administrative tasks has been 
less feasible than in English-speaking 
nations, for instance. 

inCREASinG AuTOmATiOn
The software industry has played a 
key role in utilising the strength of the 
Nordic nations while at the same time 
compensating for the weaknesses. Au-
tomation of labour-intensive adminis-
trative tasks has developed further 
in the Nordic region than most other 
places in the world. The paper-based 
cheque is more or less extinct as a 
tool for payment; most payments take 
place electronically between the banks 
and ERP-systems, and consumers are 
using Internet banks. Communication 
between the public and government 

“The software industry has 
             played a key role in utilising the strength 

    of the Nordic nations while at the 
   same time compensating for the 

weaknesses.”



Key Figures Visma Software
2005 2004

operating revenues noK mill 1 090 1 005
revenue growth % 8.5
ebiTDA noK mill 193 187
ebiTDA margin % 17.7 18.7
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VISMA SOFTWARE
Geograpical revenue 

distribution 2005

Norway

Sweden

Denmark

Finland

BuSinESS AREA
Visma Software supplies a wide range 
of business software solutions, as well 
as ASP solutions, consultancy, sup-
port and training. Visma Software has 
offices and employees in major cities 
in Sweden, Norway, Finland and Den-
mark. In 2005 we also established a 
business in Poland. Exclusive or non-
exclusive distributors manage all sales 
and marketing in other markets. 

Visma Software supplies software 
solutions that enable our customers to 
simplify their business processes. We 
emphasize this by being customer ori-
ented and quality driven. We focus on 
innovation and trustworthiness, and 
produce software that is secure and 
stable. 

Visma Software has annual reve-
nues exceeding NOK 1 000 million, 
which represent more than 50 per cent 
of the total Visma Group revenues. 
More than 180 000 companies current-
ly use our software, and the software 
division has about 1 200 employees.

OPERATiOnAl PERFORmAnCE
Visma Software achieved revenues of 
NOK 1 090 million and an EBITDA mar-
gin of 17.7 per cent. Organic growth in 
local currencies was 7.9 per cent Recur-
ring revenues amounted to NOK 576 
million, which represents 53 per cent 
of total revenues. Revenues in 2005 
grew by approximately NOK 85 million, 
representing an increase of about 8.5 
per cent from 2004.

The strategy of consolidating the Nor-
dic software market continued in 2005. 
Visma Software has grown both organ-
ically, and through several acquisitions 
during the year.  

Proceedo AB: A Swedish eProcure-
ment company with large custom-
ers such as the Swedish railways, 
Connex, Manpower, Norwegian De-
fence, Schenker, the SAS airline and 
Kloetta-Fazer. 

Vestfold Butikkdata AS: A leading 
Norwegian supplier of retail solu-
tions for the food chains. Norges-
gruppen and Rema are main cus-
tomers.  

Bizweb AS: A leading Norwegian 
supplier of online business informa-
tion to large and midsize companies 
in Norway.   

KompetanseWeb AS: Supplying 
tools for competence development 
and management in larger compa-
nies. 

FK-Data A/S: A Danish software 
company addressing the SME mar-
ket in Denmark

u

u

u

u

u

mARKET SiTuATiOn
There is a strong demand for business 
software solutions that improve the 
internal and external processes in or-
ganizations, to enable organizations to 
adapt rapidly to market changes, estab-
lish more streamlined supply chains, 
and build closer relationships between 
supplier and customer. The increasing 
ambitions of modernizing and automat-
ing many of the labour-intensive and in-
efficient work routines and processes 
– in both the private and the public sec-
tor – require good software solutions. 
Examples of such automated solutions 
are electronic invoices and mobile so-
lutions. 

Visma is well prepared for these 
requirements, and our software solu-
tions are very competitive in the mar-
ket. The product portfolio is tailored to 
serve a wide variety of customers with 
different needs, facilitating the admin-
istration and management of their dai-
ly business. It includes modules and 
functionality within:

Finance & Accounting
Logistics
Time & Project 
CRM
Payroll
Manufacturing
Invoice Management

u

u

u

u

u

u

u

Visma software
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eProcurement
Reporting & Analysis
Mobile Solutions
eCommerce solutions
eShop
Portals

The following markets are targeted: 

Micro Market: The micro market con-
cept targets small companies, typical-
ly with 0–10 employees, in all kinds of 
sectors. In Sweden, Visma is the mar-
ket leader with more than 150 000 cus-
tomers in this segment. In the other 
Nordic countries Visma has considera-
ble market share, although it is not the 
market leader. The software is mainly 
sold directly by telephone or through 
our own Internet web shops, but our 
resellers also handle considerable vol-
umes.

General SME Market: Visma Software 
is a leading supplier of ERP and CRM 
Business Software in the Nordic SME 
segment. This segment typically com-
prises companies with 10–500 employ-
ees. The products are distributed main-
ly through an extensive network of au-
thorized and highly competent resel-
lers. 

Vertical Markets: Certain vertical mar-
kets have been pinpointed as strategic 
to Visma:

Contracting
Local government
Retail
Servicing companies
Oil and gas industry
Manufacturing

Visma is a supplier of complete solu-
tions in these sectors, including soft-
ware, services, consulting, support 
and training.

u

u

u

u

u

u

u

u

u

u

u

u

Visma On Demand: Visma offers our 
main software products and solutions 
as hosted solutions, saving our cus-
tomers from heavy investments in soft-
ware and infrastructure. With our Visma 
On Demand solutions, our customers 
can concentrate on running their busi-
ness rather than spending time and re-
sources on IT operations. 

STRATEGiES And OBJECTiVES
Vismas goal is to become the largest 
supplier of business software in the 
Nordic countries. With high quality 
products combined with add-on serv-
ices and strong sales organizations we 
have a solid platform to grow our busi-
ness in this segment. 

Even though our prime markets are 
Nordic, we accompany our custom-
ers into global markets. Today Visma 
serves several hundred installations 
outside the Nordic region.

Visma Software intends to continue 
increasing our market share, and fur-
ther acquisitions in the Nordic region 
can be expected during 2006.

There are substantial synergies and 
market possibilities available through 
offering products from newly acquired 
companies to existing customers and 
partners, and vice versa. Furthermore, 
Visma is able to combine software 
and outsourcing services in our offer-

ings, which gives us a real competitive 
edge in the market. Our customers can 
therefore choose from a wide variety of 
options at any time, and they are free 
to change the combination of these op-
tions as their business develops.

Our customers regard electronic 
commerce, electronic workflow and 
automation as vital to cost reductions 
and efficiency. These areas will there-
fore be strategic in the years to come. 
Coordinating the wide variety of ERP-
systems in daily use offers potential 
for great benefits. Visma has the ability 
and competence to integrate different 
ERP solutions and support the busi-
ness processes between buyer and 
supplier. Visma can link systems and 
business partners together to provide 
benefits for all participants in the sup-
ply chain. 

We will further strengthen our inno-
vative product development by build-
ing web functionality into our current 
software solutions. We will also extend 
our offerings of mobile solutions where 
mobility is crucial for the users. 

As in other sectors, the pricing of 
software is likely to become more 
transaction based and/or advertise-
ment based. Visma is building solutions 
that comply with these trends, and we 
will extend our offerings in 2006 based 
upon new business models. 

      “Even though our prime 
markets are Nordic, we accompany 
   our customers into 
                  global markets.”



VISMA SERVICES
Geograpical revenue 

distribution 2005

Norway

Sweden

Denmark

Finland

Key Figures Visma Services
2005 2004

operating revenues noK mill 608 573
revenue growth % 6.1 
ebiTDA noK mill 50 45
ebiTDA margin % 8.2 7.9 
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BuSinESS AREA
Visma Services ASA is the accounting 
services division of Visma ASA, and is 
the Nordic region’s leading supplier of 
outsourcing services within account-
ing, payroll and associated consultancy, 
enabling customers to focus on their 
core activities. Using modern technolo-
gy, Visma Services enable our custom-
ers to find the best solutions ensuring 
optimum and effective operations. 

With annual revenues of around 
NOK 608 million, the business area 
represents about 32 percent of the to-
tal Group revenues.

Visma Services ASA comprises 70 
offices located in Norway, Sweden, 
Denmark and Finland and 1 100 em-
ployees.

2005 OPERATiOnAl PERFORmAnCE
Operating revenues for 2005 achieved 
revenues of NOK 608 million, and the 
EBITDA margin was 8.2 per cent. Rev-
enues grew by 6.1 per cent from 2004. 
Organic growth in local currencies was 
7.3 per cent. The EBITDA margin was  
also stronger than the year before.

 In July 2005, Visma Services Norge 
AS acquired Real Merkantil AS in Trond-
heim, which has now been integrated 
with the Trondheim department of Vis-
ma Services Norge AS. 

Visma Services Danmark A/S has 
been awarded a strategic contract for 
payroll services with the municipality 
of Odense in Denmark. The value of 
the contract is DKK +50 million over 5 
years, and it will start on 1st January 
2006.

Visma Services Sverige AB has en-
tered into an agreement with Preem 
to serve their more than 50 petrol sta-
tions with accounting and scanning 
services. The value of the contract is 
+10 MSEK over 3 years and will start 
during 2006.

OY Visma Services Finland AB has 
strengthened its position within ac-
counting and payroll for international 
customers, and is the subsidiary with-
in Visma Services showing the highest 
profit.

As the first in the accounting sec-
tor in Norway, Visma Services Norge 
AS has been granted ISO certification. 
8 departments obtained their ISO9001 
certificate in 2005. 

Visma Services Advokater AS was 
established in 2005, offering consult-
ing services within tax and law for cus-
tomers. Visma Services Sverige AB has 
been offering legal services for several 
years. 

Visma Services ASA established 
a new line of business in real-estate  

settlement, Visma Services Eiendoms-
oppgjør AS, located in Asker & Bærum. 
Two major contracts were signed with 
Ring Eiendomsmegling AS and Terra 
Aktiv Eiendomsmegling AS. The agree-
ment with Terra Aktiv Eiendomsmeg-
ling was effective from 1st April 2005, 
and the value of the contract is estimat-
ed at NOK 36 million over three years. 
The agreement with Ring Eiendoms-
megling AS was effective from 1st Jan-
uary 2005, and the value is estimated 
at NOK 15 million over three years with 
an option for renewal for periods of one 
year. 

During the year Visma Services 
Norge AS has invested in public re-
lations and marketing to raise mar-
ket awareness of the benefits of out-
sourcing accounting and payroll servic-
es. Polls show that the public has con-
fidence in and likes the message that 
the advertising conveys. 

Every year the financial newspaper, 
Dagens Næringsliv, arranges a ranking 
of the fastest growing companies in 
Norway, and Dagens Industri in Swe-
den ranks Swedish companies. Vis-
ma sponsored these programs in both 
Norway and Sweden, and all three divi-
sions of Visma co-operated in this mar-
keting campaign. 

“One Visma” branding in Sweden 
has been a major activity during the 
year. The goal has been to brand all 
companies and operations under one 
name, Visma. 

mARKET SiTuATiOn
Visma serves 13 000 clients in the SME 
market. As a pan-Nordic company, Vis-
ma Services can combine advanced 
centralized solutions with local busi-
ness knowledge and customer con-
tact. Invoice scanning, optical reading, 
workflow management and web ac-
cess for clients show that accounting 

Visma services
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your  DreAms for  THe  fuTure  sHoulD  be  TAKen inTo  ACCounT

is becoming a highly automated func-
tion. Scanning centres have been es-
tablished in Oslo, Kristiansand, Stock-
holm and Copenhagen. 

Visma Services also serves large 
companies as municipalities in Den-
mark, Bravida, Statoil Detaljhandel 
AS, Shell, Hydro Texaco, Exxon and 
Reitan Service Handel AS in Nor-
way and international companies in 
Finland. Within verticals as retailers,  
Visma Services has gained a strong  
position in Norway. Visma Services 
Danmark AS is considered the leading 
outsourcing partner for payroll serv-
ices. Most competitors in the Nordic 
countries are small accounting compa-
nies with 3-5 employees.

A sales organization consisting of 
local sales managers was established 
to improve customer relations and in-
crease sales. 

STRATEGiES 
The Board of Visma Services ASA has 
decided a new strategy for 2006-2008. 
The strategy implementation, which 
implied reorganization of the activities 
into five different market concepts, 
started by establishing a new depart-
ment for large companies and retail 
customers as of September 1, 2005. 

OuTlOOK 2006
In 2006, Visma Services will focus on 
organic growth. The mission of Visma 
Services is to help Nordic companies 
to grow and prosper through simpli-
fying their business. The outsourcing 
of non-core business processes will 
be made more efficient through elec- 
tronic commerce, electronic workflow, 
invoicing and scanning. Automation 
and transaction processing are expec-
ted to grow, especially within the retail 
sector and large companies. 



VISMA FINANCIAL 
& PRODUCTIVITY SERVICES

Geograpical revenue 
distribution 2005

Norway

Sweden

Key Figures Visma financial & Productivity Services
2005 2004

operating revenues noK mill 208 88
revenue growth % 137.8 
ebiTDA noK mill 34 10
ebiTDA margin % 16.5 11.9 
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Visma Financial & Productivity Serv-
ices (VFPS) was established on Jan-
uary 1 2005 as the Group’s third divi-
sion. VFPS comprises four businesses: 
Debt Collection and Cash Management 
Services, Procurement Services, Re-
cruitment and Temp Services, and Edu-
cational Services. Their shared mission 
is to facilitate Nordic growth through 
increased productivity from outsourc-
ing of non-core business processes. 

A key objective for VFPS is to de-
velop and implement cross-divisional 
product bundles for the Group’s cus-
tomer base. This is a strong competi-
tive advantage for the whole Group.   

VFPS had a successful first year, 
with strong revenue growth and high 
margins. A key factor behind the 
healthy margins has been the success-
ful integration of acquired companies 
and a cost-cutting programme in Visma 
Ajourit. The division’s revenues for 2005 
totalled 208 million, with EBITDA of 34, 
representing 13 per cent of the Group’s 
total EBITDA. Favourable market con-
ditions combined with a focused cus-
tomer perspective resulted in profita-
ble organic growth of 10.7 per cent in 
local revenue. Growth is expected to 
continue throughout 2006.   

Visma Collectors
Visma Collectors offers ethical and effi-
cient collecting of invoices for custom-
ers in Norway, Sweden and Denmark. 
A core function is the electronic work-
flow of claims from creditors to Visma 
Collectors through integration of credi-
tors' ERP solution with Visma's collec-

tion software. Debtors can track their 
claims on the Web. Visma Collectors 
AB is one of Sweden’s largest debt-
collection companies, handling over  
600 000 claims per year. Visma Collec-
tors aims to be one of the top 5 Nordic 
players in debt/invoice collection and 
Cash Management Services. To fulfil 
this ambitious objective, it will pursue a 
strategy of acquisitions combined with 
sustained organic growth.   

  
Visma Advantage 
Visma Advantage is Norway's market 
leader in outsourcing of non-strategic 
procurement. This involves the pro-
curement of goods and services that 
are not directly related to the core busi-
ness, but are critical and financially im-

portant in day-to-day operation. The 
company has become Norway's major 
player during the past 2 years, thanks 
to strong organic growth and several 
successful acquisitions. From a strong 
home base, the company is expanding 
its business concept into the Swedish 
market. The acquisition of Edium AB 
in September 2005 was the first step. 
Visma Advantage seeks to be a pan-
Nordic provider.    

   
Visma Personnel
Visma Personnel offers recruitment 
and temp services in accounting, pay-
roll and finance. It provides candi-
dates for all positions from assistants 
to CFOs. The company covers all in-
dustries within the private sector. The 
main customer segment is medium to 
large Norwegian companies. The com-
pany has offices in Asker, Bergen, Oslo 
and Sandefjord. The climate for recruit-
ment and temp services has been fa-
vourable throughout 2005, and Visma 
Personnel has achieved organic growth 
well above the market average. Visma 
Personnel is known in the market as a 
dedicated specialist to contact for per-
sonnel within finance. The strong mar-
ket conditions are expected to contin-
ue.   

Visma Ajourit
Visma Ajourit is a leading Norwegian 
provider of training and competence 
management within IT and offers a 
wide range of services from strategic 
HR-IT planning to classroom training on 
leading software and IT products. 

Throughout 2005, the focus was on 
developing new business concepts and 
simplifying the organizational structure. 
A movement from providing only class-
room-based IT-training towards provid-
ing Internet-based e-learning solutions 
and consultant services for compe-
tence management has positioned the 
company for future growth. 

Visma financial & productivity services
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foCus  on your V is ion –  THe  bAlAnCe  Comes eAs ily

OPERATiOnAl HiGHliGHTS 2005
Acquisitions: Ibistic Pool, Edium 
AS and Edium AB   

Visma Advantage established in 
Sweden through the acquisition of 
Edium AB

Visma Ajourit: Successful Change 
Programme and introduction of the 
PerformIt E-learning tools  

Personnel: High growth and prof-
itability 

Collectors: Successful integration 
of United Collectors in Sweden 

2006 OuTlOOK And OBJECTiVES 
The outlook for the market is good, and 
the demand for the services offered is  
expected to be strong.

Utilization of cross-sales opportuni-
ties within the group will be in focus 
for 2006.

All companies in Visma Financial & 
Productivity Services will continue to 
focus on organic growth. In addition, 
acquisition opportunities in selected ar-
eas will be prioritized.

u

u

u

u

u



board of Directors of Visma AsA

1  Per Boasson
2  Ossian Hellers
3  Gunnar Bjørkavåg
4  Knut Ro
5  Ann-Marie Nilsson
6  Svein Ramsay Goli
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SVEin RAmSAy GOli 
CHAiRmAn OF THE BOARd

Svein Ramsay Goli, born 1940, is well in with the software trade from many years 
in the business and also as Managing Director of Sales of IBM and Managing Di-
rector of Oracle Norway. In addition to be Chairman of the Board of Visma Group, 
he is Chairman of the Board of Normann Data, BDC and Telesafe. Goli owns 
110 000 shares directly and through Hauan Consulting AS.

GunnAR BJøRKAVåG
Gunnar Bjørkavåg, born 1960, is B. Sc. from BI, Norway, MBA from Henley Col-
lege/ Oxford and AMP from Harvard Business College. Bjørkavåg is former CEO 
of Comma Dataservice, Managing Director of Telenor Plus and Country Manager 
of Compaq Computers. Bjørkavåg is now CEO of Norsk Handels&Sjøfarts Tidende 

- who owns among others, Dagens Næringsliv, a leading financial newspaper seat-
ed in Oslo. Bjørkavåg owns none shares in Visma.

KnuT RO
Knut Ro, born 1950, is partner of the firm of lawyers Ro, Sommernes & Co DA in 
Oslo. Ro is known as a leading attourney in Norway within company law, and he 
has wide experience as member of the board. Ro owns none shares in Visma.

Ann-mARiE nilSSOn
Ann-Marie Nilsson, born 1942, has several years of experience from information 
technology related business in Sweden. Nilsson has been Managing Director of 
the Swedish IT kommission,and Managing Director of the Swedish Branch Asso-
siation of IT and Tele.She is member of the Svenske Engineerscientic Academy 
og leader of it´s department for information technic. Nilsson owns none shares in 
Visma. 

OSSiAn HEllERS

Ossian Hellers, born 1972, is a Principal in Cevian Capital, an activist fund focusing 
on public Nordic mid-cap companies. Hellers has been with the fund since its start 
in 2003. Before joining Cevian Capital, Hellers was a management consultant at 
Bain & Company, with vast experience in financial and operational issues. Hellers 
owns no shares in Visma directly. Cevian Capital owns 2 481 722 shares.

PER BOASSOn
Per Boasson, born 1957, has worked within the software sector since 1979. In 
1983 he founded PC-Systemer Norge AS, which became a part of Visma in 2001. 
Since 2001 Boasson has run his own investment and consultancy firm. In addition 
to be member of the board in Visma, he is Chairman of the Board of Itera Consult-
ing Group ASA. Boasson owns 3 078 698 shares in Visma directly or through Ven-
tor AS and P-Invest AS.
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In 2005, Visma maintained its objective 
of being the leading ERP and outsourc-
ing company in the Nordic countries. To 
achieve its goal, Visma has made sev-
eral acquisitions and made a further 
commitment to organic growth by in-
vesting in further product development 
and in marketing. Products and servic-
es of high quality are important for sat-
isfied customers. To ensure consistent 
quality, several of the Group's subsidi-
aries have been ISO 9000 certified, and 
during 2005 further units achieved ISO 
certification.  In 2005 Visma has devot-
ed substantial resources to strengthen-
ing and building the Visma brand in the 
Nordic countries. The most important 
activity in this initiative in 2005 was the 
rebranding of the Swedish subsidiaries 
SPCS AB, Xor AB and United Collectors 
AB. The rebranding campaign has been 
important to showcase all the products 
and services that Visma offers to cus-
tomers and partners, but also to our 
own employees. Visma has more than 
200 000 customers, and the company 
wants to offer these customers combi-
nations of products and services that 
are unique compared with the offering 
from competitors.  The great potential 
for cross-selling and bundling of prod-
ucts and services across divisions and 
national borders provides a good basis 
for healthy organic growth in 2006. 

HiGHliGHTS 
The economic climate in all the Nor-
dic countries was good in 2005, and 
contributed to sound growth at Vis-
ma. Small and medium-sized enter-
prises have shown greater motivation 
to invest, and the focus has shifted 
from cost cuts to sales and custom-
ers. In particular, Visma has observed 
increased demand for products and 
services within electronic document 
management. It is especially products 
and services for electronic orders, in-

voices, internal document flow within 
businesses and e-commerce solutions 
that are of interest. In addition, Visma 
has experienced increased demand for 
CRM solutions and both software and 
outsourcing of payrolls.  These areas 
will be the strongest growth drivers in 
Visma Software and Visma Services in 
2006. In Visma's third division, Visma 
Financial & Productivity Services, the 
export of product and service concepts 
to new geographic markets and cross-
selling of products and services to the 
existing customer base in Visma Soft-
ware and Visma Services will power 
growth in the time ahead. 

During 2005 the company has un-
dertaken acquisitions to strengthen its 
market position in high-priority product 
and service areas, verticals and geo-
graphical areas. The majority of the ac-
quisitions in 2005 were made in Visma 
Software and Visma Financial & Pro-
ductivity Services. In 2006, high activ-
ity is expected to continue within ac-
quisitions in these divisions. The focus 
is now on acquisitions in Sweden and 
Finland in particular, to strengthen the 
company's position as a leading Nordic 
player. In the long term, Visma wishes 
to grow larger in Sweden than in Nor-
way. Critical mass is well on the way 
to being achieved in Visma Services, 
and organic growth in sales and earn-
ings was given priority in 2005. No sub-
stantial new acquisitions will be made 
in Visma Services’ units that have an 
EBITDA margin of less than 10 per 
cent.

The acquisitions of new operations in 
Visma Software were:

Econet Group Oy Ltd in Finland 
(consolidated from 1 January 2005)
Cultus AS in Norway (consolidated 
from 1 April 2005)
Kompetanseweb AS in Norway 
(consolidated from 1 April 2005)

u

u

u

FK-Data A/S in Denmark (consoli-
dated from 1 April 2005)
Proceedo AB in Sweden (consoli-
dated from 1 September 2005)
Vestfold Butikkdata AS in Norway 
(consolidated from 1 November 
2005)
Bizweb AS in Norway (consolidated 
from 31 December 2005)

The resellers Spektrum Software AS 
and Visma Consept AS were sold to 
concentrate the reseller strategy in the 
SME segment in Norway.  

Acquisitions of new operations in  
Visma Services were: 

Real Merkantil in Norway (consoli-
dated from 1 July 2005) 

Acquisitions of new operations in 
Visma Financial & Productivity Ser- 
vices were:

United Collectors AB in Sweden 
(consolidated from 1 January 2005)
Ibistic Pool in Norway (consolidated 
from 1 February 2005)
Edium AS in Norway (consolidated 
from 1 September 2005)
Edium AB in Sweden (consolidated 
from 1 October 2005)

In 2005 the company invested sub-
stantial resources in development and 
strengthening of the Visma brand. The 
most important activity was rebranding 
of several of the units acquired in Swe-
den. The campaign was the largest that 
Visma has ever conducted, with adver-
tising through television, the Internet 
and the daily press. The most intensive 
part of the campaign was implement-
ed in September. An extra NOK 10 mil-
lion was spent on marketing activities 
in connection with the branding proc-
ess in 2005, and the response to the 
campaign in Sweden has been good. 

u

u

u

u

u

u

u

u

u
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In particular, Visma's operations that 
sell large financial systems and serv-
ices related to electronic billing expe-
rienced increased demand. In connec-
tion with the rebranding campaign, a 
kick-off event was held for all employ-
ees in Sweden. This was the first time 
that all employees across divisions had 
gathered in Sweden. In 2006 the com-
pany will carry out further activities 
to strengthen and develop the Visma 
brand in the Nordic countries. 

ASSESSmEnT OF FinAnCiAl 
STATEmEnTS
Visma converted from Norwegian Ac-
counting Standards (NGAAP) to Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) with reporting effect from 1Q 
2005. Visma has prepared the opening 
balance sheet at the date of the transi-
tion to IFRS, which is 1 January 2004. 
The transition to IFRS had no impact on 
reported revenue and EBITDA in 2004. 
EPS increased to NOK 6.55 under IFRS 
(NOK 4.83 under NGAAP). Total share-
holders’ equity increased from MNOK 
1 083 to MNOK 1 215. Please refer to 
note 21 in the financial statements and 
the document “Transition to IFRS” for 
more detailed information about the 
transition to IFRS.

The financial statements for the year 
have been prepared on the assumption 
that the company is a going concern 
and in compliance with the Section 3-3 
of the Accounting Act . The Board of Di-
rectors confirms that this assumption 
applies. Earnings forecasts for 2006 
and the Group's good equity and liquid-
ity position provide the basis for this 
assessment.

The Visma Group achieved a prof-
it after tax and minority interests of 
NOK 124.7 million (NOK 204.7 million 
in 2004) on sales of NOK 1 907 million 
in 2005 (NOK 1 666 million in 2004). 
Growth in sales amounted to 14.5 per 

cent (3 per cent in 2004) and organic 
growth in the local currency ended at 
8.0 per cent. The Group's net tax came 
to NOK 51.8 million (income of NOK 
12.4 million in 2004). The operating 
profit in 2005 was NOK 184.6 million 
(NOK 165.9 million in 2004) and EBIT-
DA (earnings before interest, tax, de-
preciation and amortization) was NOK 
257.6 million (224.3 million in 2004). 
The EBITDA margin of 13.5 per cent 
(13.5 per cent in 2004) is satisfactory 
in a year in which the Group has imple-
mented substantial integration proc-
esses as well as considerable invest-
ments in marketing and branding. Cash 
flow from operations ended at NOK 
287 million (NOK 237 million in 2004).

Visma Software achieved an EBIT-
DA margin of 17.7 per cent, compared 
with 18.7 per cent the previous year. 
The decline in margin is related to the 
commitment to new products and ex-
tra costs of NOK 10 million in connec-
tion with the rebranding in Sweden. A 
change in exchange rates had a nega-
tive effect on growth in sales in 2005. 
Adjusted for the negative effect of ex-
change rates, the organic growth in 
sales in 2005 was 7.9 per cent (4.1 per 
cent in 2004). 

Visma Services achieved organic 
growth in the local currency of 7.3 per 
cent (1 per cent in 2004). The EBITDA 
margin came to 8.2 per cent, compared 
with 7.9 per cent in 2004. The trend in 
the margin in the division was poorer 
than expected. This is primarily attribut-
able to extra costs associated with the 
project for central accounting at Statoil. 
The Statoil contract has now been re-
negotiated and will not make a nega-
tive contribution in 2006. This will con-
tribute to an improvement in margins 
in Visma Services in 2006. 

Visma Financial & Productivity Serv-
ices achieved an EBITDA margin of 16.5 
per cent (7.9 per cent pro forma EBITDA 
margin in 2004). Organic growth in the 

local currency ended at 10.7 per cent.  
The division has been operative since 
1 January 2005. There are plans for the 
expansion of services and concepts to 
new markets, so that it is difficult to 
forecast 2006 with great precision. 

In 2005, the Group had a strong 
net cash flow of NOK 287 million from 
operations. Continued good financial 
management will help to ensure a posi-
tive cash flow from operations in 2006. 
This can be used for further growth 
and dividends to shareholders. At the 
end of 2005, the Group's total assets 
amounted to NOK 2 259 million, com-
pared with NOK 1 920 million for the 
previous year. The majority share of 
the equity increased from NOK 1 201 
million at 31 December 2004 to NOK  
1 334 million at 31 December 2005. 
This represents 59 per cent of the total 
balance sheet. Net cash on hand (cash 
and cash equivalents minus interest 
bearing debt) amounted to NOK 102 
million, compared with NOK 207 mil-
lion at the end of 2004.

Accounts receivable including VAT 
totalled NOK 295 million at 31 Decem-
ber 2005, compared with NOK 277 mil-
lion for the previous year. Customers' 
average credit period was 37 days in 
the fourth quarter of 2005 compared 
with 42 days in the same period of 
2004. All doubtful accounts receivable 
have been assessed, and the Group 
has provided an amount equivalent to 
approximately 3.5 per cent of the ac-
counts receivable excluding value-add-
ed tax. Accounts receivable are tracked 
closely. The existing provisions are re-
garded as adequate considering that 
the credit period is lower than what is 
normal in the IT sector. The provisions 
cover accounts receivable that are old-
er than 180 days.

“The focus is now on acquisitions 
in Sweden and Finland in particular, 

to strengthen the company's 
position as a leading Nordic player.”
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PROPOSEd AllOCATiOn OF THE 
PROFiT FOR THE yEAR

noK 1 000
Allocated to dividend  
(noK 3 per share) 96 000
other equity (56 131)
Total allocated 39 870

Visma AsA's distributable re-
serves at 31 December 2005 851 150

 

REViEw OF THE BuSinESS AREAS
The business area Visma Software
Visma Software supplies ERP, CRM, 
payroll and e-commerce software to 
small and medium-sized enterprises 
in Norway, Sweden, Finland and Den-
mark. In addition, Visma provides tai-
lored solutions within the verticals of 
retailing, the public sector, accounting 
firms and the trades. At the end of the 
year the Visma Software division had  
1 118 employees. More than 190 000 
enterprises are users of Visma's soft-
ware. Most of these have also signed 
annual maintenance and support agree-
ments. 

Sales in Visma Software increased 
by 8.5 per cent in 2005. The organic 
growth in the local currency was 7.9 
per cent. The remaining growth results 
from acquisitions of other software 
companies. 53 per cent of sales stem 
from annual maintenance and support 
contracts, 20 per cent from new sales 
of software, 17 per cent from consult-
ing services and 11 per cent from 3rd-
party products.  

The EBITDA margin came to 17.7 
per cent, compared with 18.7 per cent 
in 2004. The somewhat lower margin is 
related to NOK 10 million in extra costs 

in connection with the rebranding and 
that acquired units have lower margins 
than Visma Software. 
 
Visma Software in Sweden achieved 
sales of NOK 337.3 million and EBITDA 
of NOK 65.6 million. The EBITDA mar-
gin ended at 19.4 per cent compared 
with 20.7 per cent last year. It is ex-
pected that the margin will improve 
somewhat in 2006, as marketing activi-
ties and costs have been high this year 
in connection with the rebranding. The 
subsidiary Visma SPCS AB continued 
to make progress in 2005 and now has 
a 57 per cent market share of financial 
systems for small and medium-sized 
enterprises in Sweden. The commit-
ment to the public sector has also re-
sulted in a good return, and the results 
in Visma Software AB are significantly 
better than last year. Visma Software 
now has 150 000 customers in Swe-
den.  In September, Visma acquired the 
company Proceedo AB. Proceedo pro-
vides solutions for purchasing and bill-
ing, with products that cover the entire 
process from order to payment. Vis-
ma is planning further expansion in the 
Swedish market. 

Visma Software in Finland achieved 
sales of NOK 140 million, which repre-
sents sales growth of 21.5 per cent. 
EBITDA ended at NOK 28.4 million, 
representing an EBITDA margin of 20.3 
per cent compared with 19.9 per cent 
last year. The growth is a combination 
of organic growth and integration of 
the enterprise Econet Group Oy Ltd. 
Visma is planning further expansion in 
the Finnish market in 2006. 

Visma Software in Denmark achie-
ved solid growth in sales of 46 per 
cent. The growth in sales is a combina-
tion of strong organic growth and ac-
quisition of the company FK-Data A/S. 
Visma Software now has 3 500 cus-
tomers in Denmark. The Danish mar-
ket is strongly dominated by Micro-

soft, and competition is intense. Vis-
ma however regards it as important to 
compete with Microsoft in the market 
in which they are strongest. In 2006, 
Visma will work on introducing more of 
Visma Software's products to the Dan-
ish market.

Visma Software in Norway achie-
ved sales of NOK 598.3 million and 
EBITDA of NOK 101.4 million. The EBIT-
DA margin ended at 17.0 per cent com-
pared with 17.2 per cent last year. Vis-
ma's activities within the public sec-
tor, in particular, have flourished during 
2005. The product Visma CRM, which 
replaces the product SalesOffice, was 
launched at the end of 2005 and has 
been well received in the market. There 
has been a strong increase in interest 
in scanning/document flow and e-com-
merce solutions. 

In 2005, the R&D department fo-
cused on consolidation of product lines 
and integration between products. The 
developers have been reorganized in 
teams focusing on software architec-
ture, process improvement within de-
velopment and professional expertise. 
Professional expertise has been giv-
en special emphasis in the develop-
ment of software within the areas of 
logistics, finance, CRM, EDI and web 
shops. New development teams have 
been established in the areas of mo-
bility, integration, data warehousing 
and reporting, as well as user-friendli-
ness and user interfaces. This initiative 
will result in new product lines in mo-
bility for Visma's ERP solutions and so-
lutions offered in the public sector. In 
addition, a new data warehousing and 
reporting tool will be launched. A com-
mon integration architecture enables 
improved EDI and data communica-
tion solutions. The core products in Vis-
ma will be given a new user interface 
with common design elements and im-
proved user-friendliness. During 2006, 
new concepts will also be launched in 
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which customers can choose between 
local or ASP solutions for a number of 
the core products.

  
For Visma, innovative product develop-
ment is important for attracting new 
customers and keeping existing ones. 
In our efforts to keep existing custom-
ers, customer support is also essential. 
In the ongoing work to create growth, 
it is also absolutely vital to have an 
aggressive sales force to sell add-on 
modules to existing customers, win 
new customers and cross-sell prod-
ucts and services. The primary focus in 
2006 in the Software division will be to 
improve these functions further.  

The business area Visma Services
Visma Services provides outsourcing 
services for accounting and payroll in 
Norway, Sweden, Denmark and Fin-
land. Visma Services is the only pan-
Nordic supplier of these services. It 
has more than 16 000 companies as 
customers, and more than 126 compa-
nies buy from Visma Services in more 
than one country. At the end of the 
year, the Visma Services division had  
1 047 employees.

Sales in Visma Services increased 
by 6.1 per cent in 2005. The organic 
growth in the local currency was 7.3 
per cent compared with 1 per cent last 
year and a decline in sales of 5 per cent 
in 2003. Visma Services has proved 
to be strongly affected by the general 
economic climate. The good climate in 
2005 is expected to continue in 2006. 
Only one small business acquisition 
was made in Visma Services Norge: 
Real Merkantil.    

The EBITDA margin came to 8.2 per 
cent, compared with 7.9 per cent in 
2004. The project for central accounting 
in Statoil resulted in a loss of NOK 10 
million. Our objective is still to achieve 
an EBITDA margin of 10 per cent, and 
this should be possible to accomplish 
in 2006.  

Visma Services in Norway achieved 
sales of NOK 409.2 million, represent-
ing growth of 5.4 per cent. The growth 
includes the acquisition of Real Mer-
kantil in Trondheim. The EBITDA mar-
gin ended at 5.6 per cent, up from 5.4 
per cent in 2004. The EBITDA margin 
in Norway is still not at a satisfactory 
level, and further steps will be taken 
to improve this in 2006. In Norway, a 
great deal of work was done with qual-
ity and procedures during the year. Vis-
ma Services Norge AS is the first chain 
of accounting firms in the business to 
be ISO certified. In addition, eight de-
partmental offices were ISO certified 
in 2005. Visma Services in Norway has 
also started a unit to carry out settle-
ment for estate agents. A number of 
estate agent chains are Visma custom-
ers for accounting services. The settle-
ment function was established at the 
request of several of these. 

Visma Services in Denmark achie-
ved sales of NOK 84.7 million, result-
ing in very strong organic growth in 
the local currency of 34.9 per cent. Vis-
ma Services in Denmark is clearly the 
largest accounting firm in the country 
which is not part of an audit firm, and 
multinational companies, in particular, 
wish to outsource the accounting func-
tion to a supplier which is not associ-
ated with auditing. Payroll outsourc-
ing has been an important source of 
growth in Denmark. Visma has assist-
ed Accenture with payroll outsourcing 
in the municipality of Copenhagen. In 
December they won a major contract 
with the municipality of Odense, worth 
DKK 50 million over 5 years. There are 
more opportunities for corresponding 
outsourcing projects in Danish munici-
palities in the time ahead. 

Visma Services in Sweden achieved 
sales of NOK 77.8 million and EBITDA 
of NOK 7.1 million. After the rebranding 
campaign in Sweden, there has been 
increased demand for electronic bill-

ing services and other services related 
to digitization of business processes, 
providing a strong start in 2006. At the 
end of the year, Visma Services in Swe-
den signed an agreement with Preem 
for accounting and scanning services 
for the group's 50 petrol stations.

As usual, Visma Services in Finland 
delivered very solid figures. Sales end-
ed at NOK 36.2 million, resulting in or-
ganic growth in the local currency of 
14.4 per cent. The EBITDA amounted 
to 24.9 per cent, which is the strongest 
margin in the Services division. Visma 
Services in Finland also started as a re-
seller for the product Visma Business 
at the end of the year. 

During 2005 Visma Services has 
obtained more payroll customers on 
a pan-Nordic basis. Good growth in 
pan-Nordic payroll engagements is ex-
pected to continue. The first account-
ing customer is also operating with the 
same system in all the Nordic coun-
tries. Technology that boosts the effi-
ciency of the processes in Services is 
an important competition parameter, 
and this has helped Services to win 
several large contracts in 2005. 

The business area of Visma Finan-
cial & Productivity Services
Visma Financial & Productivity Servic-
es provides services in administration 
of accounts receivable, administrative 
purchasing, temporary staff and recruit-
ment of finance staff as well as soft-
ware courses in Norway, Sweden and 
Denmark. The division started to report 
as an independent division from 1 Jan-
uary 2005. At the end of the year the 
Visma Financial & Productivity Serv-
ices division had 178 staff members 
and some 10 000 customers. The ob-
jective is to introduce administration of 
accounts receivable and administrative 
purchasing in all the Nordic countries. 
At present, most of the business is in 
Norway and Sweden. 

“For Visma, 
   innovative product development 
     is important for attracting 
    new customers and keeping 
    existing ones.”
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Sales in Visma Financial & Productiv-
ity Services came to NOK 208.3 million 
in 2005. The organic growth in the lo-
cal currency came to 10.7 per cent. It is 
especially Visma Collectors in Sweden 
which has contributed to the strong or-
ganic growth. In addition, Visma Advan-
tage (administrative purchasing) has ac-
quired several enterprises.  

The EBITDA margin for the year was 
16.5 per cent, an organic improvement 
from 7.9 per cent last year. The improve-
ment in margin is due to successful in-
tegration processes in acquired units, 
as well as the substantial economies of 
scale in effect for the business areas in 
the division. Once critical mass has been 
achieved, further growth will also improve 
margins in most cases. 

Visma Collectors in Sweden had a 
very good year. Organic growth in the lo-
cal currency amounted to 17.4 per cent. 
Even with this strong growth, Collectors 
in Sweden achieved an EBITDA margin of 
a full 26.4 per cent. During the year they 
won 2 new counties and Sweden's sec-
ond largest municipality, Gothenburg, as 
customers. In addition, their largest cus-
tomer, the county of Stockholm, renewed 
its agreement. During 2005 they complet-
ed the development of a services portal 
for customers and completed Net-based 
portal solutions for debtors.  An integra-
tion programme with Visma Software AB 
and Visma SPCS AB has been started. In 
December, the first version of the integra-
tion between Visma's financial system for 
municipalities and Visma Collectors was 
completed.  The integration programme 
with Visma Software will continue next 
year. In addition, there will be a stronger 
commitment to financial services such as 
factoring and purchasing of invoices.

Visma Collectors in Norway also had 
a good year. They won many large new 
customers, and had good cross-sales 
with Visma Advantage in Norway. The in-
tegration module for Visma Business was 
introduced to the market in 2005 and has 

been well received by customers and 
dealers. In 2006, an integration module 
will also be developed with Visma Global. 
In 2005, Collectors in Norway and Swe-
den won their first common Nordic cus-
tomers. 

Visma Personell also made good 
progress this year. The company has suc-
ceeded in establishing itself as the lead-
ing agency for temporary staff and the 
recruiting agency in Norway for finance 
staff. The EBITDA margin amounted to 
10.5 per cent, which is significantly better 
than traditional agencies for temporary 
staff in the Nordic countries. 

Visma Advantage showed good 
progress in 2005 with growth of 97 per 
cent. Some of the growth is due to sev-
eral business acquisitions. During 2005 
Visma Advantage acquired Ibistic Pool, 
Edium AS and Edium AB. The integration 
process has been very successful and 
contributed to a good improvement in 
margins from 2004. 

Visma Ajourit improved its results 
significantly in 2005 compared with 
2004, but has still not achieved satisfacto-
ry profitability. The focus next year will be 
on further improvement in margins. Vis-
ma Ajourit is working to change its organi-
zation from being a pure training provider 
to becoming a competence partner for its 
customers. 

All the units in Visma Financial & Pro-
ductivity will work further with cross-sell-
ing and integration with Visma Software 
and Visma Services. In addition, Visma 
Collectors and Visma Advantage will con-
tinue to work on expansion. More acqui-
sitions in these segments are expected 
next year.  

ORGAniZATiOn, wORKinG 
EnViROnmEnT And EQuAliTy  
OF OPPORTuniTy
Visma is headquartered in Oslo, but has 
more than 70 offices distributed in Nor-
way, Sweden, Finland and Denmark. The 

Group is organized in three divisions. The 
divisions have combined responsibility 
for their areas regardless of geography 
or other factors. Visma Financial & Pro-
ductivity Services was established as Vis-
ma's third division from 1 January 2005. 

At the end of 2005 Visma had 2 347 
employees (2 097 in 2004), of whom  
1 011 were employed outside Norway. 
The key to further progress is held by 
the Group's staff. Visma is a competence 
enterprise, and it is the unique compe-
tence of the employees that creates val-
ues for customers and shareholders. Vis-
ma is therefore working to offer courses 
and other training to its staff members 
in order to develop skilled and dedicated 
staff members. In 2005 Visma started a 
2-year management training programme 
for young potential managers in Visma. A 
new programme will be started when the 
first one is completed. All managers in 
the Group are also responsible for desig-
nating and training their successor. Work-
ing conditions and opportunities for ded-
icated and ambitious employees are re-
garded as good. 

Visma emphasizes activities with-
in HSE (health, safety and the environ-
ment) and has designated its own HSE 
groups and senior safety representative. 
HSE procedures form part of Visma's ISO 
9000 approved quality system. Total sick-
ness absence for the Group averaged 
3.45 per cent in 2005 (3.89 per cent). No 
injuries or accidents occurred in connec-
tion with work tasks undertaken at Visma 
during 2005.

Visma wants to strengthen the diver-
sity in the company with regard to gen-
der, race and religion. To promote equal-
ity of opportunity between the sexes, Vis-
ma has implemented the following meas-
ures:

When qualifications are otherwise the 
same, the underrepresented gender 
will be appointed.
Opportunities for training and promo-

u

u
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tion must be independent of gender.
These guidelines on equal opportu-
nities are sent to all managers in the 
Group and reviewed in management 
meetings.
In Services, management develop-
ment programmes are conducted 
where most of the participants are 
women. The objective of this is to in-
crease the recruitment of women to 
management roles.

At the end of 2005, 55.1 per cent of 
the staff were women.  Visma Services 
has a proportion of women of 70.8 per 
cent (70 per cent), while the equivalent 
figure in Visma Software is 40.1 per cent 
(39 per cent). At the end of the year, Vis-
ma Financial & Productivity Services had 
a proportion of women of 57.9 per cent. 
In the holding company Visma ASA, two 
out of four employees are women. Oth-
er management and middle management 
have a proportion of women of 45 per 
cent. Visma aims to improve the balance 
in the executive group, but despite this 
the primary objective is to have the cor-
rect competence in all types of positions 
in both divisions. The Board of Directors 
at the Group comprises one woman and 
five men. Visma will strive to comply with 
the requirements of the Act on public lim-
ited companies for representation of both 
sexes in the Board of Directors as soon 
as possible. An independent nomination 
committee is responsible for proposing 

u

u

candidates to the general meeting.
Visma's personnel policy is based on 

equal pay for equal work, which means 
that women and men in the same posi-
tion have equal salaries, given that other 
conditions are the same. Average salary 
levels between women and men are in-
fluenced by age, length of service, pro-
fessional area and the proportion of ex-
ecutives. All these factors contribute to 
a higher average salary for men than for 
women. The picture is significantly more 
balanced if one adjusts for these aspects. 
The salary statistics for 2005 show that 
the annual salary for male staff on aver-
age was 22 per cent higher than for fe-
male staff. In 2004 the difference was 
25.5 per cent. Average salary levels in the 
software industry are somewhat higher 
than in the accounting and outsourcing 
sectors.

The Group strives to arrange workplac-
es that give staff members of both sex-
es the opportunity to combine work and 
family life. At the end of 2005, 57 employ-
ees had taken leave of absence, of which 
97 per cent were women. 

In recruitment, Visma seeks the pro-
fessionally best qualified candidates, but 
the Group's aim is that in any depart-
ment or position category the gender ra-
tio should be within 40/60. Visma consid-
ers that a relatively even gender ratio con-
tributes to an improved working environ-
ment, greater creativity and adaptability, 
and improved results in the long run. 

On the basis of the current situation 
and the measures that have been imple-
mented, the Board of Directors at Visma 
ASA considers that further action to pro-
mote equal opportunities in the Visma 
Group is not necessary. 

EnViROnmEnT
The Group's activities are not regarded as 
contributing to pollution of the environ-
ment.

Through financial and logistics sys-
tems, Visma's products contribute to 
greater productivity, with reduced wast-
age of economic and material resources 
as a result.

OuTlOOK FOR 2006
There are clear signals that the gener-
al economic climate will also be good in 
2006, but there is no reason to expect 
significant improvement in relation to 
2005. 

Visma sees good opportunities for 
continued progress in 2006. Organic 
growth will be driven by the positive eco-
nomic climate and by good opportunities 
for cross-selling and bundling of products 
and services across divisions and nation-
al borders. Positive cash flow from opera-
tions and the possibility for some debt fi-
nancing provide a foundation for further 
strategic acquisitions in 2006. 

“It is the unique competence 
of the employees 

that creates values for customers 
and shareholders.”

Oslo, 17 February 2006

Svein Ramsay Gol
Chairman of the Board

Ann-Marie Nilsson
Member of the Board

Knut Ro
Member of the Board

Gunnar Bjørkavåg
Member of the Board

Ossian Hellers
Member of the Board

Per Boasson
Member of the Board

Øystein Moan
CEO
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CORPORTATE inFORmATiOn
The consolidated financial statements 
of Visma ASA, for the year ended 31 
December 2005 were authorized for is-
sue in accordance with a resolution of 
the directors on 17 February 2006. Vis-
ma ASA is a limited liability company in-
corporated and domiciled in Oslo, Nor-
way whose shares are publicly traded. 
The business address of Visma ASA 
is Biskop Gunnerusgt, Box 774 SEN-
TRUM N-0106 Oslo
 

BASiS OF PREPARATiOn
The consolidated financial statements 
have been prepared on a historical cost 
basis, except for available-for-sale in-
vestments that have been measured 
at fair value. The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in NOK and 
all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand (NOK 000) except when oth-
erwise indicated.

STATEmEnT OF COmPliAnCE
The consolidated financial statement of 
Visma ASA including all its subsidiaries 
have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Stand-
ards (IFRS) as adapted by the EU.

COnSOlidATiOn
The consolidated financial statements 
comprise the financial statement of 
Visma ASA and its subsidiaries as at 31 
December each year. 

The group accounts show the total 
profit / loss and financial position of Vis-
ma ASA and its controlling interests as 
a whole.  The consolidated accounts in-
clude companies where Visma ASA has 
a direct or indirect ownership of more 
than 50 per cent of the voting shares, 
or otherwise has direct control. Sub-
sidiaries are consolidated 100 per cent 
line by line in the group accounts. 

Subsidiaries are consolidated from 
the date on which control is transferred 
to the Group and cease to be consoli-
dated from the date on which control 
is transferred out of the Group. Where 
there is a loss of control of a subsidi-
ary, the consolidated financial state-
ments include the results for the part 
of the reporting year during which Vis-
ma ASA has control. 

Intercompany receivables and liabili-
ties and all transactions between Group 
companies, as well as internal profit in 
inventories, have been eliminated.

Acquisitions of subsidiaries are ac-
counted for using the purchase meth-
od of accounting. The cost of an ac-
quisition is measured as the fair value 
of the assets acquired, shares issued 
or liabilities undertaken at the date of 
acquisition plus costs directly attrib-
utable to the acquisition. The excess 
cost of acquisition over the fair value 
of the net assets of the subsidiary ac-
quired measured at the date of change 
of control, is recorded as goodwill (see 
“Intangible Assets” for the account-
ing policy on goodwill). In the cases in 
which Visma acquires operations with 
deductible temporary differences and/
or carry forward unused tax losses 
where the associated nominal deferred 
tax asset has not been paid for in full, 
the difference between the nominal 
value of the deferred tax asset and the 
allocated purchase price is recognised 
as a reduction in the tax charge at the 
acquisition date if it is considered that 
the deferred tax can be entered in the 
Groups balance sheet.

The assets and liabilities of foreign 
subsidiaries are translated into the 
presentation currency (NOK) of Visma 
ASA at the rate of exchange ruling at 
the balance sheet date, and their in-
come statements are translated at the 
weighted average exchange rates for 
the year. All resulting exchange differ-
ences arising from the translation are 

recognised as a separate component 
of equity (other reserves). On the dis-
posal of a foreign entity, the cumula-
tive amount of the exchange differenc-
es deferred in equity relating to the dis-
posed entity is recognised in profit or 
loss when the gain or loss on disposal 
is recognised.

Gain or loss from sales of shares in 
subsidiaries are calculated as the differ-
ence between the sales price and the 
equity in the subsidiary at the time of 
divestment, adjusted with the book val-
ue of any excess values included in the 
consolidation and any related net de-
ferred tax liabilities.

Goodwill related to acquisition of mi-
nority interest is calculated as the differ-
ence between the acquisition cost and 
the minority interest’s part of the re-
corded net assets of the entity in which 
Visma is acquiring a minority interest.

FOREiGn CuRREnCy 
TRAnSlATiOn
The functional and presentation curren-
cy of Visma ASA is Norwegian Kroner 
(NOK). Transactions in foreign curren-
cies are initially recorded in the func-
tional currency ruling at the date of the 
transaction. Monetary assets and liabil-
ities denominated in foreign currencies 
are translated at the functional currency 
rate of exchange ruling at the balance 
sheet date. All differences are taken to 
the consolidated income statement.

The functional currencies for subsid-
iaries in Sweden, Finland and Denmark 
are Swedish Kroner (SEK), Euro and 
Danish Kroner (DKK) respectively. As at 
the reporting date, the assets and lia-
bilities of these subsidiaries are trans-
lated into the presentation currency of 
Visma at the rate of exchange ruling 
at the balance sheet date and their in-
come statements are translated at the 
weighted average exchange rates for 
the reporting period.
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ClASSiFiCATiOn
All assets and liabilities related to the 
operating cycle are classified as cur-
rent/short-term. For receivables and lia-
bilities outside the operating cycle, the 
current/non-current distinction is deter-
mined based on a one year maturity-
rule as from the acquisition date.

REVEnuE
Revenue is recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that the econom-
ic benefits will flow to the Group and 
the revenue can be reliably measured. 
The following specific recognition crite-
ria must also be met before revenue is 
recognised;

Licence fee for standard software
Revenue is recognised at the time of 
delivery, and when the significant risks 
and rewards of the ownership of the li-
cence sold have passed to the buyer 
and can be reliably measured. Initial li-
cence fees are recognised when:

A non cancellable licence agree-
ment has been signed
The software and related documen-
tation have been shipped
No material uncertainties regarding 
customer acceptance exists
Collection of the resulting receiv-
able is deemed probable

 
Maintenance contracts
Maintenance contracts are normally 
committed on annual basis and within 
the financial year. Revenue from these 
contracts is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the contract period. Cus-
tomers normally have the right to can-
cel their utilization rights at the latest 
(three to twelve) months prior to the 
next renewal period. Failing cancella-
tion in due time, customers are obliged 
to pay for the next period. Such reve-
nue from maintenance are recognised 
over the lifetime of the contract

u

u

u

u

 
Rendering of services
Revenues in connection with servic-
es provided with respect to delivery of 
standard software, including installa-
tion, implementation, reporting and da-
tabase development are recognised as 
the services are delivered.

Long term contracts are taken to in-
come based on the percentage-of-com-
pletion method. In compliance with 
the earned income principle, a relative 
share of the total contract amount and 
expenses, equal to the work that has 
been done at the time of closing the 
accounts, is included in the profit and 
loss statement. For projects that at the 
time of evaluation are expected to pro-
duce a loss, provision is made immedi-
ately for the total loss expected.
Revenue from support and other con-
sulting services is recognised when 
the services are performed.

Revenue from debt-collection cases 
is recognised using the stage-of-com-
pletion method.
 
 Dividends
Revenue is recognised when the 
Group’s right to receive the payment is 
established.
 

PEnSiOnS
The Group have pension schemes 
where the company’s commitment 
is to contribute to the individual em-
ployee’s pension scheme (contribution 
plans). Contributions paid to the pen-
sion plans are expensed.
 

inCOmE TAX
Deferred income tax is provided, using 
the liability method, on all temporary 
differences, except where the deferred 
income tax liability arises from goodwill 
amortisation or the initial recognition of 
an asset or liability in a transaction that 

is not a business combination and, at 
the time of the transaction, affects nei-
ther the accounting profit nor taxable 
profit or loss, at the balance sheet date 
between the tax bases of assets and li-
abilities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes.

Taxable and deductible differences, 
which are, or may be, reversed in the 
same period, are offset.  Any remain-
ing deductible difference is used as a 
basis for recognising a deferred tax as-
set if future taxable income is likely to 
occur. Deferred tax liability and assets 
are presented net within the same tax 
regime.

The carrying amount of deferred in-
come tax assets is reviewed at each 
balance sheet date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profit will be available 
to allow all or part of the deferred in-
come tax asset to be utilized. Expect-
ed utilization of tax losses are not dis-
counted when calculating the deferred 
tax asset.

Deferred income tax assets and li-
abilities are measured at the tax rates 
that are expected to apply to the year 
when the asset is realized or the liabil-
ity is settled, based on tax rates (and 
tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the balance 
sheet date.

Income tax relating to items recog-
nised directly in equity is recognised 
in equity and not in the income state-
ment.

In the cases in which Visma ac-
quires operations with deductible tem-
porary differences and/or carry forward 
unused tax losses where the associ-
ated nominal deferred tax asset has 
not been paid for in full, the difference 
between the nominal value of the de-
ferred tax asset and the allocated pur-
chase price is recognised as a reduc-
tion in the tax charge at the acquisition 
date if it is considered that the deferred 
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tax can be entered in the Groups bal-
ance sheet.

inTAnGiBlE ASSETS
Research and development costs
Research costs are expensed as incurred. 
Development expenditure incurred on an 
individual project is carried forward when 
its future recoverability can reasonably be 
regarded as assured. Following the initial 
recognition of the development expendi-
ture the cost model is applied requiring 
the asset to be carried at cost less any ac-
cumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Any expenditure car-
ried forward is amortised over the period 
of the expected future sales from the re-
lated project.

The carrying value of development 
costs is reviewed for impairment annu-
ally when the asset is not yet in use or 
more frequently when an indicator of im-
pairment arises during the reporting year 
indicating that the carrying value may not 
be recoverable.

Gains and losses arising from de-rec-
ognition of an intangible asset are meas-
ured as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset and are recognised 
in the income statement when the asset 
is derecognised.

Identifiable intangible assets ac-
quired in business combinations
The values related to contracts and cus-
tomer relationships are identified and re-
corded as identifiable intangible assets. 
The fair value of contracts and customer 
relationships are calculated considering 
the estimated future recurring revenues 
from the customers in the acquired op-
erations at the date of the acquisition. The 
value related to contracts and customer 
relationships are calculated on a 100 per 
cent basis, including the share of any mi-
nority interest. The fair value of tax amor-
tizations are considered in the recorded 

value of contracts and customer relation-
ships. Any deferred tax liabilities related 
to the recorded contracts and customer 
relationships are calculated at nominal 
values and the difference between the 
fair value of the tax amortizations and the 
corresponding deferred tax liabilities are 
recorded as a part of goodwill.

Purchased rights and contract and con-
tractual relationships acquired are capital-
ised at fair value as at the date of acquisi-
tion. Following initial recognition, the cost 
model is applied to this class of intangible 
assets. Purchased rights and contract and 
contractual relationships have a finite use-
ful life and are amortized on a straight-line 
basis over its useful life which is estimat-
ed to 4-7 years. The depreciable amount 
is determined after deducting its residual 
value (only where there is an active mar-
ket for the asset). Useful life and residual 
value are reviewed at least annually and 
reflect the pattern in which the benefits 
associated with the asset are consumed. 
A change in the useful life or depreciation 
method is accounted for prospectively as 
a change in accounting estimate.

An item of intangible assets is dere-
cognised upon disposal or when no fu-
ture economics benefits are expected to 
arise from the continued use of the asset. 
Gains or losses on the sale or disposal of 
intangible assets are recorded as other 
operating revenues and other operating 
costs respectively in the year the item is 
derecognised.

The carrying values of intangible as-
sets with finite useful life are reviewed 
for impairment when events or changes 
in circumstances indicate the carrying 
value may not be recoverable. If any such 
indication exists and where the carrying 
values exceed the estimated recoverable 
amount, the assets or cash-generating 
units are written down to their recover-
able amount. The recoverable amount of 
intangible assets is the greater of net sell-
ing price and value in use. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash 

flows are discounted to their present val-
ue using a pre-tax rate that reflects cur-
rent market assessment of the time value 
of money and the risks specific to the as-
set. For an asset that does not generate 
largely independent cash inflows, the re-
coverable amount is determined for the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs. Impairment losses are recog-
nised in the income statement.

GOOdwill
Goodwill on acquisitions is initially meas-
ured at cost being the excess of the cost 
of the business combination over the 
Group’s interests in the net fair value of 
the identifiable assets, liabilities and con-
tingent liabilities at the date of the acqui-
sition. 

Following initial recognition, goodwill 
acquired in a business combination is 
measured at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses. Goodwill on acquisi-
tions after 1 January 2004 and goodwill 
already carried in the balance sheet at the 
transition date is not amortized after this 
date. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment 
annually or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying value may be impaired. As 
at the acquisition date, any goodwill ac-
quired is allocated to each of the cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-gen-
erating units that are expected to ben-
efit from the synergies of the combina-
tion, irrespective of whether other assets 
or liabilities are assigned to those units or 
groups of units. A cash-generating unit 
to which goodwill has been allocated will 
be tested for impairment annually, and 
whenever there is an indication that the 
unit may be impaired, by comparing the 
carrying amount of the unit, including the 
goodwill, with the recoverable amount of 
the unit. Where recoverable amount of 
the cash-generating unit is less than the 
carrying amount, an impairment loss is 
recognised. The recoverable amount of 
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a cash-generating unit is the higher of its 
fair value less costs to sell and its value in 
use. Value in use is the present value of 
the future cash flows expected to be de-
rived from the cash-generating unit.

If Visma’s interest in the net fair val-
ue of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities recognised exceeds 
the cost, the difference is recognised im-
mediately in the income statement.

PROPERTy And EQuiPmEnT
Property and equipment acquired by 
Group companies are stated at histori-
cal cost, except the assets of acquired 
subsidiaries that were stated at the fair 
values at the date of acquisition. Depre-
ciation is charged on a straight-line basis 
over the estimated useful life of the as-
sets. The amount to be depreciated is the 
carrying amount less the asset’s residual 
value.

Useful life and residual value are re-
viewed at least annually and reflect the 
pattern in which the benefits associated 
with the asset are consumed. A change 
in the useful life or depreciation meth-
od is accounted for prospectively as a 
change in accounting estimate.

Each part of an item of property and 
equipment with a cost that is significant 
in relation to the total cost of the item is 
depreciated separately.

Ordinary repair and maintenance (day-
to-day servicing) of tangible assets is re-
corded as an operating cost, whereas im-
provements are capitalised and depreciat-
ed over its useful life. An item of property 
and equipment is derecognised upon dis-
posal or when no future economics ben-
efits are expected to arise from the con-
tinued use of the asset. Gains or losses 
on the sale or disposal of fixed assets are 
recorded as other operating revenues or 
other operating costs respectively in the 
year the item is derecognised.

The carrying values of property and 
equipment are reviewed for impairment 

when events or changes in circumstanc-
es indicate the carrying value may not be 
recoverable. If any such indication exists 
and where the carrying values exceed the 
estimated recoverable amount, the as-
sets or cash-generating units are written 
down to their recoverable amount. The re-
coverable amount of property and equip-
ment is the greater of net selling price 
and value in use. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessment of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset. For an 
asset that does not generate largely in-
dependent cash inflows, the recoverable 
amount is determined for the cash-gen-
erating unit to which the asset belongs. 
Impairment losses are recognised in the 
income statement.

inVESTmEnTS 
All investments are initially recognised at 
cost, being the fair value of the considera-
tion given and including acquisition charg-
es associated with the investment.

After initial recognition, financial in-
vestments, which are classified as avail-
able for sale, are measured at fair val-
ue. Gains and losses are recognised as 
a separate component of equity (oth-
er reserves) until the investment is sold 
or otherwise disposed of, or until the in-
vestment is determined to be impaired, 
at which time the cumulative gain or loss 
previously reported in equity is included 
in the income statement.

For investments that are actively trad-
ed in organized financial markets, fair val-
ue is determined by reference to Stock 
Exchange quoted market bid prices at the 
close of business on the balance sheet 
date. For investments where there is no 
active market, fair value is determined us-
ing valuation techniques. Such techniques 
include using arm’s length market trans-
actions or discounted cash flow analysis.

PROViSiOnS
Provisions are recognised when the 
Group has a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be re-
quired to settle the obligation and a relia-
ble estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation. Where the Group ex-
pects some or all of a provision to be re-
imbursed, for example under an insur-
ance contract, the reimbursement is 
recognised as a separate asset but on-
ly when the reimbursement is virtually 
certain. The expense relating to any pro-
vision is presented in the income state-
ment net of any reimbursement. If the ef-
fect of the time value of money is materi-
al, provisions are determined by discount-
ing the expected  future cash flows at a 
pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessment of the time value of money 
and, where appropriate, the risks specific 
to the liability. Where discounting is used, 
the increase in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognised as a bor-
rowing cost.

ESTimATiOn unCERTAinTy
The key assumptions concerning the fu-
ture and other key sources of estima-
tion uncertainty at the balance sheet 
date, that have a significant risk of caus-
ing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year relates to goodwill and 
are discussed below.
 
Impairment of goodwill
The Group determines whether goodwill 
is impaired at least on an annual basis. 
This requires an estimation of the value in 
use of the cash-generating units to which 
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value 
in use requires the Group to make an es-
timate of the expected future cash flows 
from the cash-generating unit and also to 
choose a suitable discount rate in order to 
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calculate the present value of those cash 
flows. More details are given in Note 22.

inVEnTORiES
Inventories are valued at the lower of 
cost and net realisable value. The original 
cost of purchased goods is the purchase 
price and is based on the FIFO principle. 
The original cost of work in progress and 
own manufactured goods are the direct 
cost of production plus a share of the in-
direct cost of production. Net realisable 
value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business, less estimat-
ed costs of completion and the estimated 
costs necessary to make the sale.

Inventories are reduced for estimated 
obsolescence.

ACCOunTS RECEiVABlES
Trade receivables are recognised and car-
ried at original invoice amount less an al-
lowance for any uncollectible amounts.  
An estimate for doubtful debts is made 
when collection of the full amount is no 
longer probable.  Bad debts are written 
off when identified.

CASH And CASH EQuiVAlEnTS
Cash and cash equivalents comprise bank 
deposits, other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of 
three months or less and bank overdrafts. 
Restricted cash is included as cash and 
cash equivalents. Bank overdrafts are in-
cluded within borrowings in current liabili-
ties on the balance sheet.

For the purpose of the consolidat-
ed cash flow statement, cash and cash 
equivalents consist of cash and cash 
equivalents as defined above, net out-
standing bank overdraft.

lEASES
Finance leases, which transfer to the 
Group substantially all the risk and bene-

fits incidental to ownership of the leased 
item, are capitalised at the inception of 
the lease at the fair value of the leased 
property or, if lower, at the present value 
of the minimum lease payments. Lease 
payments are apportioned between the fi-
nance charges and reduction of the lease 
liability so as to achieve a constant rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability. Finance charges are charged di-
rectly against income.

Capitalized leased assets are depre-
ciated over the shorter of the estimat-
ed useful life of the asset and the lease 
term.

Leases where the lessor retains sub-
stantially all the risks and benefits of own-
ership of the asset are classified as oper-
ating leases. Operating lease payments 
are recognised as an expense in the in-
come statement on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. 

TREASuRy SHARES  
The nominal value of treasury shares held 
is deducted from registered share capi-
tal. Any differences between the nominal 
value and the acquisition price of treasury 
shares, together with any gains or losses 
on transactions therein, are recorded di-
rectly to reserves.

EARninGS PER SHARE
Earnings per share is calculated by divid-
ing the majority shareholders share of the 
profit/loss for the period by the weight-
ed average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding over the course of the pe-
riod. When calculating diluted earnings 
per share, the average number of shares 
outstanding is adjusted for all share op-
tions that have a potential dilutive effect. 
Options that have a dilutive effect are 
treated as shares from the date they are  
issued.

inTEREST-BEARinG lOAnS  
And BORROwinGS 
All loans and borrowings are initially rec-
ognised at cost, being the fair value of the 
consideration received net of issue costs 
associated with the borrowing.

After initial recognition, interest-bear-
ing loans and borrowings are subsequent-
ly measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.  Amortised 
cost is calculated by taking into account 
any issue costs, and any discount or pre-
mium on settlement.

The effective interest rate is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments or receipts through the 
expected life of the loan.

SHARE BASEd PAymEnT
IFRS 2 requires that options rights grant-
ed to employees are charged against 
profit and loss at their fair value at the al-
location date. This is only mandatory for 
options plans granted after 7 November 
2002. Visma has no plans granted after 
7 November 2002 and has recognised 
its plans to the intrinsic value at the time 
granted. 

CASH FlOw
The cash flow statement has been drawn 
up in accordance with the indirect meth-
od and report cash flows during the pe-
riod classified by operating, investing and 
financing activities. Cash and cash equiv-
alents consist of cash and cash equiv-
alents as defined under cash and cash 
equivalents, net outstanding bank over-
draft.

IFRSs and IFRIC Intepretations not 
yet effective
There are a number of IFRSs and IFRIC In-
tepretations not yet effective .The Group 
expects that any adoption of the pro-
nouncements will not have material im-
pact on the Group’s financial statements 
in the period of initial application.



VISMA ASA - CONSOLIDATED

(noK 1 000) Note 2005 iFRS 2004 iFRS 2004 nGAAP 2003 nGAAP

Operating revenue
sales revenue 2 1 906 614 1 665 578 1 665 578 1 340 364
Total operating revenue 1 906 614 1 665 578 1 665 578 1 340 364

Operating expenses
Cost of goods sold 254 479 166 413 166 413 108 290
payroll and personnel expenses 3.15 1 026 675 947 098 947 098 772 816
Depreciation and amortisation expenses 4.5 73 048 58 382 110 983 91 093
other operating expenses 7.15 367 827 327 754 327 754 276 657
Total operating expenses 1 722 028 1 499 648 1 552 249 1 248 857
profit/loss from operating activities 184 586 165 930 113 329 91 507

Financial items
financial income 8 13 583 47 049 47 049 76 274
financial expenses 8 (14 039) (17 829) (17 829) (16 151)
net financial items (456) 29 220 29 220 60 122
ordinary profit before tax 184 130 195 150 142 549 151 629

Tax on ordinary profit 9 51 811 (12 432) (11 362) (50 778)
profit for the year 132 320 207 582 153 911 202 407

minority interests 7 667 2 913 2 913 6 365
profit after minority interests 124 652 204 670 150 999 196 042

earnings per share 18 3.90 6.55 4.83 6.27
Diluted earnings per share 18 3.89 6.51 4.80 6.23

VISMA ASA - CONSOLIDATED

(NOK 1 000) Note 2005 IFRS 2004 IFRS 2004 NGAAP 2003 NGAAP

Operating revenue
sales revenue 2 1 906 614 1 665 578 1 665 578 1 340 364
Total operating revenue 1 906 614 1 665 578 1 665 578 1 340 364

Operating expenses
Cost of goods sold 254 479 166 413 166 413 108 290
payroll and personnel expenses 3.15 1 026 675 947 098 947 098 772 816
Depreciation and amortisation expenses 4.5 73 048 58 382 110 983 91 093
other operating expenses 7.15 367 827 327 754 327 754 276 657
Total operating expenses 1 722 028 1 499 648 1 552 249 1 248 857
Profit/loss from operating activities 184 586 165 930 113 329 91 507

Financial items
financial income 8 13 583 47 049 47 049 76 274
financial expenses 8 (14 039) (17 829) (17 829) (16 151)
Net financial items (456) 29 220 29 220 60 122
Ordinary profit before tax 184 130 195 150 142 549 151 629

Tax on ordinary profit 9 51 811 (12 432) (11 362) (50 778)
Profit for the year 132 320 207 582 153 911 202 407

minority interests 7 667 2 913 2 913 6 365
Profit after minority interests 124 652 204 670 150 999 196 042

earnings per share 18 3.90 6.55 4.83 6.27
Diluted earnings per share 18 3.89 6.51 4.80 6.23
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balance sheet
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VISMA ASA - CONSOLIDATED

(noK 1 000)

ASSETS Note 2005 IFRS 2004 IFRS 2004 NGAAP

Fixed assets
Intangible assets
Deferred tax assets 9 89 799 116 358 116 358
Goodwill 4 1 077 763 841 678 850 099
other intangible assets 4 26 132 33 441 33 441
Contracts & Customer relationships 4 145 511 88 910 0
Total intangible assets 1 339 204 1 080 387 999 898

Tangible fixed assets
property 5 16 920 17 772 17 772
machinery and equipment 5 67 470 55 070 55 070
Total tangible fixed assets 84 390 72 842 72 842

Financial assets
shares 20 92 895 23 193 23 193
other long-term receivables 9 462 11 162 11 162
Total financial fixed assets 102 357 34 355 34 355
Total fixed assets 1 525 951 1 187 584 1 107 094

Current assets
inventory 14 926 6 118 6 118
Receivables
Accounts receivables 6 294 675 277 301 277 301
other current receivables 50 915 40 233 40 233
Total receivables 345 590 317 535 317 535
shares 20 11 402 11 994 11 994
Cash and cash equivalents 11 361 164 396 744 396 744

Total current assets 733 082 732 390 732 390
Total assets 2 259 033 1 919 974 1 839 484
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VISMA ASA - CONSOLIDATED

(noK 1 000)

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY Note 2005 IFRS 2004 IFRS 2004 NGAAP

Equity
paid-in capital 13,14 198 272 154 619 154 619
other reserves 12 20 928 (6 084) 0
retained earnings 1 114 808 1 052 711 914 375
minority interests 44 021 13 505 13 505
Total equity 1 378 029 1 214 752 1 082 500

Non-current liabilities
pension liabilities 2 082 1 508 1 508
Deferred tax liability 9 52 829 37 648 3 491
other long-term liabilities 11 253 946 182 974 182 974
Total non-current liabilities 11 308 858 222 130 187 973

Current liabilities
bank overdraft 5 440 6 880 6 880
Trade creditors 101 602 71 753 71 753
public duties payable 131 654 126 952 126 952
Tax payable 17 503 14 376 14 376
Allocated to dividends 0 0 85 920
other current liabilities 315 947 263 131 263 131
Total current liabilities 572 146 483 091 569 012
Total liabilities 881 004 705 222 756 984
Total liabilities and equity 2 259 033 1 919 974 1 839 484

Secured liabilities and guarantees
16

Oslo, 17 February 2006

Svein Ramsay Gol
Chairman of the Board

Ann-Marie Nilsson
Member of the Board

Knut Ro
Member of the Board

Gunnar Bjørkavåg
Member of the Board

Ossian Hellers
Member of the Board

Per Boasson
Member of the Board

Øystein Moan
CEO
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VISMA ASA - CONSOLIDATED

(NOK 1 000) 2005 IFRS 2004 IFRS 2004 NGAAP

Ordinary profit / loss before tax 184 130 195 150 142 549

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 73 048 58 382 110 983
Taxes paid (14 376) (11 809) (11 809)
Cash flow from operations 242 802 241 724 241 724

Changes in inventory, accounts receivable and trade creditors 3 667 (13 511) (13 511)
Change in other accruals 40 962 9 143 9 143
Net cash flow from operations 287 431 237 356 237 356

investment in tangible fixed assets (37 064) (31 742) (31 742)
sale of (investment in) businesses (312 211) (250 577) (250 577)
sale of (investment in) shares (23 013) 16 730 16 730
Net cash flow from investments (372 289) (265 590) (265 590)

Change in long-term liabilities 70 973 156 467 156 467
Change in bank overdraft (1 439) 3 919 3 919
net cash flow from share issues 42 053 0 0
payment of dividend (85 850) (70 114) (70 114)
Cash inflow from dividends 6 000 1 000 1 000
purchase of treasury shares 24 894 (22 307) (22 307)
Cash inflow from interest 7 410 10 591 10 591
Cash outflow from interest (13 747) (10 390) (10 390)
Net cash flow from financing activities 50 294 69 166 69 166

Net cash flow for the year (34 563) 40 932 40 932

Cash and cash equivalents 1.1 396 744 356 826 356 826
net foreign exchange difference (1 016) (1 015) (1 015)
Cash and cash equivalents 31.12 361 164 396 744 396 744
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(NOK 1 000) Note

Paid-in 
capital 

Share 
capital

Treasury
shares

Share 
premium

reserve
Other

reserves
Retained
earnings

 
Majority's 

share 
of equity 

Minority 
interests

Total 
equity

Equity as at 01.01.2004 156 219 (450) 938 222 1 093 991 21 881 1 115 872

Currency translation differences (6 084) (6 084) (6 084)
realization own shares 450 (537) (87) (87)
net changes minority (11 288) (11 288)
profit (loss) for the period 204 670 204 670 2 913 207 582
Dividends (70 114) (70 114) (70 114)
own shares (1 600) (19 529) (21 129) (21 129)
Equity as at 31.12.2004 156 219 (1 600) (6 084) 1 052 712 1 201 247 13 505 1 214 753

effect of  transition to iAs 32 and 39 20 42 034 42 034 42 034
Adjusted equity as at 01.01.2005 156 219 (1 600) 35 951 1 052 712 1 243 281 13 505 1 256 787

net unrealized Gains/(losses) on 
available-for-sale investments 20 4 062 4 062 4 062
Currency translation differences (19 085) (19 085) (19 085)
realisation own shares 1 600 23 294 24 894 24 894
net gains and losses not recognised 
in the income statement 1 600 (15 023) 23 294 9 871 9 871
profit (loss) for the period 124 652 124 652 7 667 132 320
issue of share capital 3 781 38 272 42 053 42 053
Dividends (85 850) (85 850) (85 850)
net changes minority 22 848 22 848
Equity as at 31.12.2005 160 000 38 272 20 928 1 114 808 1 334 008 44 021 1 378 029

statement of changes in equity



nOTE 1  ACQuiSiTiOnS

Name Description
Acquisition 

date

Percentage of voting 
equity instruments 

acquired
Consideration 

total
Cash pay-

ment

Cost associated 
with the acquisi-

tion

Visma software Ab ip - scanning sw 15-06-05  -    4 713  4 713  -   

Visma Ajourit As ip - Training 05-07-05  -    1 000  1 000  -   

Visma Ajourit As ip - Training sw 25-10-05  -    3 000  3 000  -   

others ip - sw 2005  -    1 341  1 341  -   

pluss regnskap As Acc - services 09-03-05  83.33 -> 100%  1 310  1 310  -   

Visma services levanger As Acc - services 09-03-05 50.10 -> 75.49%  2 793  2 793  -   

Visma Collectors As Coll - services 09-03-05 87.65% -> 100%  2 802  2 802  -   

Visma services Danmark A/s Acc - services 31-03-05 50.05% -> 79.92%  45 088  45 088  -   

Visma retail As retail - software 31-03-05  50.40% -> 75.20%  4 763  4 763  -   

Visma services sverige Ab Acc - services 14-04-05  -> 100%  6 500  6 500  -   

Visma Advantage As proc / runit 06-01-05  -    2 300  2 300  -   

Visma Collectors Ab* Coll - services 06-01-05 50.10 %  42 743  41 100  1 643 

Visma Advantage As proc / ibistic pool 02-02-05  -    33 183  31 539  1 644 

econet Group oy* erp - software 20-01-05 100.00 %  20 313  20 109  203 

Visma Cultus As erp - software 18-03-05 50.10 %  2 854  2 783  71 

Kompetanseweb As erp - software 08-04-05 50.15 %  2 237  2 166  71 

fK-Data A/s erp - software 06-06-05 100.00 %  5 483  5 483  -   

Visma services norge As Acc - realmerkantil 14-06-05  -    5 400  5 400  -   

edium As proc - services 01-09-05 100.00 %  11 925  11 829  96 

Visma proceedo Ab* proc - software 14-09-05 86.45 %  21 925  20 804  1 121 

edium Ab proc - services 30-09-05 100.00 %  1 730  1 730  -   

merkantil ink. Aps Coll - services 05-10-05 100.00 %  1 182  1 182  -   

Vestfold butikkdata As* erp - software 30-11-05 61.00 %  130 971  130 796  175 

Visma bizweb As Web - info services 09-12-05 100.00 %  7 005  7 005  -   

The cash outflow on acquisition is as follows:

net cash acquired with the acquisitions  50 349 

Cash paid  362 561 

Net cash (outflow)/inflow (312 211)

*The intial purchase price allocation have been determined provisionally as the valuation of assets aquired and liabilities assumed has not been finally completed.
The aggregated fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities and the goodwill arising at the date of acquisition for material transactions in 2005 are:

(NOK 1 000) Visma Collectors AB* Econet Group Oy* Visma Proceedo AB* Vestfold Butikkdata AS*

Deferred tax assets 0 0 0 387

other intangible assets 0 0 0 0

machinery and equipment 1 987 2 111 508 7 125

shares 0 874 0 7 533

inventories 0 0 0 12 477

Trade receivables 5 923 2 796 2 734 17 577

Cash and cash equivalents 5 527 5 969 477 18 492

pension liabilities 0 0 0 1 166

Deferred tax liability 3 699 3 249 55 5 204

bank overdraft 32 441 0 0

Trade creditors 3 059 777 483 12 563

public duties payable 1 674 1 829 736 6 456

Tax payable (2 286) 246 (195) 0

other current liabilities 8 529 6 055 2 329 10 105

Fair value of net assets (1 270) (847) 312 28 097
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nOTE 1 COnTinuEd

(NOK 1 000) Visma Collectors AB* Econet Group Oy* Visma Proceedo AB* Vestfold Butikkdata AS*

Goodwill arising on acquisition 37 070 9 915 18 728 96 257

C&C r arising on acquisition 12 725 11 332 4 699 40 015

Consideration 42 743 20 313 21 925 130 971

profit for the year 7 332 2 363 (225) 10 272

profit for the year before acquisition 0 0 (552) 7 129

profit contribution to the Visma Group 7 332 2 363 327 3 143

The goodwill arising on these aquisitions are attributable to the anticipated profitability of the operations and to the anticipated synergies.
for further comments on goodwill arising from acquisitions, please see note 4.

nOTE 2  SEGmEnT inFORmATiOn
2005 2004

(NOK million) Software Services F&P

VISMA 

ASA Elim.* CONSOLIDATED Software Services F&P

VISMA 

ASA Elim.* CONSOLIDATED

operating revenue from external customers 1 090.4 607.9 208.3 1 906.6 1 005.0 573.0 87.6 1 665.6

operating revenue from internal customers 20.3 5.7 16.8 (42.7) 0.0 18.7 5.4 7.0 (31.1) 0.0

Total operating revenue 1 110.7 613.6 225.1 0.0 1 906.6 1 023.7 578.3 94.7 1 665.6

operating expenses** 917.4 563.9 190.8 19.6 (42.7) 1 649.0 836.2 532.9 84.3 19.0 (31.1) 1 441.3

Depreciation 52.6 10.1 10.3 0.0 73.0 47.0 10.1 1.3 0.0 58.4

Profit/loss from operating activities 140.6 39.6 24.0 (19.6) 184.6 140.4 35.4 9.1 (19.0) 165.9

net financial items (2.5) (4.6) (1.1) 7.8 (0.5) 22.4 (12.6) (1.6) 20.9 29.2

Profit before income tax 138.1 35.0 22.8 (11.8) 184.1 162.8 22.8 7.6 1.9 195.2

income tax expense (39.4) (9.1) (7.1) 3.8 (51.8) 21.5 (6.4) (2.1) (0.5) 12.4

Net profit for the year 98.7 25.9 15.8 (8.1) 132.3 184.3 16.4 5.5 1.4 207.6

profit margin in % 15.9 % 7.2 % 8.4 % 13.5 % 16.8 % 7.0 % 3.8 % 13.5 %

Current assets 157.4 39.3 71.6 792.4 (327.6) 733.1 142.5 36.1 44.7 835.2 (326.1) 732.4

non current assets 830.8 410.9 251.2 655.8 (622.6) 1 526.0 751.9 377.2 156.9 524.8 (623.2) 1 187.6

Total assets 988.2 450.2 322.7 1 448.2 (950.3) 2 259.0 894.4 413.3 201.6 1 360.0 (949.3) 1 920.0

segment current liabilities 678.0 124.9 76.7 8.2 (315.7) 572.1 542.8 100.0 61.4 3.9 (224.9) 483.1

segment non current liabilities 57.9 6.8 10.2 294.5 (60.5) 308.9 46.3 5.4 8.2 231.7 (69.5) 222.1

Total segment liabilities 735.9 131.7 86.9 302.7 (376.2) 881.0 589.1 105.4 69.5 235.6 (294.4) 705.2

equity 252.3 318.5 235.9 1 145.4 (574.1) 1 378.0 305.3 307.9 132.1 1 124.5 (654.9) 1 214.8

Cash flow from operating activities *** 193.3 49.7 34.3 (19.6) 29.8 287.4 187.5 45.5 10.4 (19.0) 13.0 237.4

Cash flow from investment activities (180.5) (48.7) (2.3) (103.8) (335.2) 102.9 (27.4) (19.4) (289.9) (233.8)

Cash flow from financing activities 1.0 (4.6) (1.1) 55.0 50.3 21.5 (6.4) (2.1) 83.6 69.2

Capital expenditure (26.7) (7.1) (3.3) 0.0 (37.1) (23.6) (5.8) (2.4) 0.0 (31.7)

*items outside the segments and eliminations
**operating expenses before depreciation and amortization
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nOTE 2 COnTinuEd

Actual 2005-2004 and pro forma 2005 and geographical segments

2005A 2004A 2005P

(NOK million)

Operating 
revenue EBITDA

EBITDA 
margin Growth 

Total 
assets

Captial 
ex-

pendi-
ture

Operating 
revenue EBITDA

EBITDA 
margin

Total 
assets

Captial 
ex-

pendi-
ture

Operating 
revenue EBITDA

EBITDA 
margin

norway/Denmark 613.1 99.3 16.2 % 7.7 % 367.6 (17.1) 569.3 98.1 17.2 % 322.7 (15.1) 733.0 116.8 15.9 %

sweden 337.3 65.6 19.4 % 5.3 % 345.2 (7.6) 320.4 66.4 20.7 % 312.4 (6.7) 378.1 67.7 17.9 %

finland 140.0 28.4 20.3 % 21.5 % 275.4 (2.0) 115.2 23.0 19.9 % 259.2 (1.8) 140.0 28.4 20.3 %

Visma Software 1 090.4 193.3 17.7 % 8.5 % 988.2 (26.7) 1 005.0 187.5 18.7 % 894.4 (23.6) 1 251.1 212.9 17.0 %

norway 409.2 22.8 5.6 % 5.4 % 202.1 (1.7) 388.2 21.1 5.4 % 227.4 (1.4) 413.5 23.9 5.8 %

sweden 77.8 7.1 9.1 % -8.4 % 122.6 (2.8) 84.9 8.1 9.6 % 112.5 (2.3) 77.8 7.1 9.1 %

finland 36.2 9.0 24.9 % 8.2 % 43.8 (0.5) 33.5 5.8 17.3 % 34.2 (0.4) 36.2 9.0 24.9 %

Denmark 84.7 10.7 12.7 % 27.6 % 81.7 (2.0) 66.4 10.4 15.7 % 39.2 (1.6) 84.7 10.7 12.7 %

Visma Services 607.9 49.7 8.2 % 6.1 % 450.2 (7.1) 573.0 45.5 7.9 % 413.3 (5.8) 612.2 50.8 8.3 %

norway 142.4 16.9 11.9 % 62.6 % 250.5 (0.5) 87.6 10.4 11.9 % 201.6 (0.5) 146.9 17.2 11.7 %

sweden 65.9 17.4 26.4 % 0.0 % 72.2 (0.5) 0.0 0.0 0.0 % 0.0 0.0 67.6 16.9 25.0 %

Visma F&P 208.3 34.3 16.5 % 137.8 % 322.7 (3.3) 87.6 10.4 11.9 % 201.6 (2.4) 214.4 34.0 15.9 %

Total operating units 1 906.6 277.2 14.5 % 14.5 % 1 665.6 243.3 14.6 % 2 077.8 297.7 14.3 %

Visma AsA / eliminations 0.0 (19.6) 497.9 0.0 0.0 (19.0) 410.7 0.0 0.0 (19.6)

Total 1 906.6 257.6 13.5 % 14.5 % 2 259.0 (37.1) 1 665.6 224.3 13.5 % 1 920.0 (31.7) 2 077.8 278.1 13.4 %

The table above shows actual 2005 and 2004 results for the Group compared with pro forma figures for 2005. The pro forma figures for 2005 includes acquired units full year. location of customers equals the 
location for operations.

nOTE 3   PAyROll And PERSOnnEl EXPEnSES
IFRS NGAAP

(NOK 1 000) 2005 2004 2003

salaries 842 386 777 093 644 244
employer's national insurance contributions 111 645 107 196 74 964
pension expenses 35 291 25 675 23 308
other personnel expenses 37 353 37 133 30 300
Total 1 026 675 947 098 772 816

Average number of employees 2 237 1 887 1 670

Pensions
for certain units, Visma has a contribution-based pension scheme. The annual contribution to the scheme is expensed as the year's pension expenses. Visma has 
no obligation beyond the annual contribution. Visma has contribution-based schemes in Denmark, finland, sweden and norway. The Group's capitalized pension 
liabilities of noK 2 082 045 originate from acquired entities. noK 1 014 000 apply to an unsecured scheme for a former employee in an acquired company.
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nOTE 4   GOOdwill And OTHER inTAnGiBlE ASSETS

2005
(NOK 1 000)

Development
cost1)

Contracts & Customer
relationships 2)

Purchased
rights2) Goodwill2)

Cost as at 1 January 2005, net of accumulated amortisation 88 910 33 441 841 678

Acquisition of subsidiary* 91 141 0 264 126

Additions 0 10 054 0

Disposal 0 0 (9 000)

Amortisation for the year (30 182) (18 202) 0

exchange Adjustments (4 358) 838 (19 042)

At 31 December 2005 0 145 511 26 132 1 077 763

At 1 January 2005

Cost 107 803 65 595 972 882

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (18 893) (32 154) (131 203)

Net carrying amount 0 88 910 33 441 841 678

At 31 December 2005

Cost 194 586 76 487 1 208 966

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (49 075) (50 355) (131 203)

Net carrying amount 0 145 511 26 132 1 077 763

Contracts and Customer relationships represents intangible assets purchased through the effect of a business combination. The useful lives of these intangible assets were estimated as having a finite life 
and is amortised under the straight-line method over a period of 4-7 years. These assets are tested for impairment where an indicator on impairment arises.
purchased rights represents intangible assets purchased through the effect of a business combination. The useful lives of these intangible assets were estimated as having a finite life and is amortised under 
the straight-line method over a period of 4-6 years. These assets are tested for impairment where an indicator on impairment arises. 

As at 1 January 2004, goodwill was no longer amortised and was annually tested for impairment, see note 22.

*Acquisitions

Investment in purchased rights  NOK (1 000) Aquired (year)

Visma software Ab 2005 4 713

Visma Ajourit As 2005 4 000

others 1 341

Total 10 054

Contracts and
customer relationshipsInvestment in goodwill ** (NOK 1 000) Aquired (year) Goodwill

pluss regnskap As 2001 - 2005 784

Visma services levanger As 2003 - 2005 2 371

Visma Collectors As 2001 - 2005 1 481

Visma services Danmark A/s 2002 - 2005 42 746

Visma retail As 2002 - 2005 3 777

Visma services sverige Ab 2001 - 2005 6 500

Visma Advantage As 2005 1 295 1 005

Visma Collectors Ab 2005 12 725 37 070

Visma Advantage As 2005 12 394 20 789

econet Group oy 2005 11 332 9 915

Visma Cultus As 2005 639 1 398

Kompetanseweb As 2005 1 147 1 114

fK-Data A/s 2005 1 953 3 623

Visma services norge As 2005 2 637 2 763

edium As 2005 2 304 9 091

Visma proceedo Ab 2005 4 699 18 728

edium Ab 2005 1 615

merkantil ink. Aps 2005 1 318

Vestfold butikkdata As 2005 40 015 96 257

Visma bizweb As 2005 1 782

Total 91 141 264 126

** for further comments on acquisitions, please see note 1.
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nOTE 4 COnTinuEd
2004  (NOK 1 000)

Development
cost1)

Contracts &
Customer

relationships 2)

Purchased
rights2) Goodwill2)

Cost as at 1 January 2004, net of accumulated amortisation 0 43 615 723 136

Acquisition of subsidiary* 107 803 162 118 542

Additions 0 0 0

Disposal 0 0 0

Amortisation (18 893) (10 337) 0

exchange adjustments 0 0 0

At 31 December 2004 0 88 910 33 441 841 678

At 1 January 2004

Cost 0 65 433 854 339

Accumulated amortisation and impairment 0 (21 817) (131 203)

Net carrying amount 0 0 43 615 723 136

At 31 December 2004

Cost 107 803 65 595 972 882

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (18 893) (32 154) (131 203)

Net carrying amount 0 88 910 33 441 841 678

1) internally generated

2) purchased as part of business combination

2005 2004

The Group has incurred the following software research and development expenses  TnoK 172 546 135 548

research and development expenses include salaries for employees in the Group's development department and an estimate of the development department's proportional share of the operating expenses. 
Developement expenses have been assessed by the Group in accordance with iAs 38 and the conclusions are that these expenses for 2004 and 2005 do not meet the necessarry criteria to recognise these 
expenses as intangible assets.

nOTE 5   TAnGiBlE FiXEd ASSETS

2005

(NOK 1 000) Machinery and equipment Property** Total

At 1 January 2005, net of accumulated depreciation 55 070 17 772 72 842

investment 37 064 0 37 064

Disposal and scrap 0 0 0

impairment 0 0 0

Depreciation for the year (24 664) 0 (24 664)

exchange adjustments 0 (852) (852)

At 31 December 2005, net of accumulated depreciation 67 470 16 920 84 390

At 1 January 2005

Cost 207 176 18 287 225 463

Accum. depreciation (152 106) (515) (152 621)

Net carrying amount 55 070 17 772 72 842

At 31 December 2005

Cost 244 240 17 435 261 675

Accum. depreciation (176 770) (515) (177 285)

Net carrying amount 67 470 16 920 84 390

Depreciation rates (straight line method)
10-33.33% 0 - 4%

** Visma AsA owns holiday apartments in spain with a book value of noK 5 390 000.
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nOTE 5 COnTinuEd
2004
(NOK 1 000) Machinery and equipment Property** Total

At 1 January 2004, net of accumulated depreciation 52 261 15 339 67 600

investment 31 742 2 484 34 226

Disposal and scrap 0 0 0

impairment 0 0 0

Depreciation for the year 28 934 51 28 985

exchange adjustments 0 0 0

At 31 December 2004, net of accumulated depreciation 55 070 17 772 72 842

At 1 January 2004

Cost 175 434 15 803 191 237

Accum. depreciation (123 172) (464) (123 636)
Net carrying amount 52 261 15 339 67 600

At 31 December 2004

Cost 207 176 18 287 225 463

Accum. depreciation (152 106) (515) (152 621)

Net carrying amount 55 070 17 772 72 842

Depreciation rates (straight line method) 10-33.33% 0 - 4%

** Visma AsA owns holiday apartments in spain with a book value of noK 5 390 000.

nOTE 6   ACCOunTS RECEiVABlE

on a consolidated basis the provision for bad debts at 31.12.2005 is noK 8 410 000 while at 31.12.2004 it was noK 7 425 000 
The Group's accounts receivable which have been due for more than 180 days, excluding VAT, amount to noK 3 340 000 (noK 5 474 000 in 2004). 
The company considers the provision for bad debt to be adequate.

nOTE 7   OTHER OPERATinG EXPEnSES

(NOK 1 000) 2005

IFRS

2004

NGAAP

2003

rent 91 120 81 866 73 101

other office expenses 73 401 69 109 60 450

Telephone, postage 20 143 19 888 17 736

Travel expenses 38 488 34 111 25 140

Vehicles and transport 11 330 10 041 7 914

leasing expenses 12 170 12 810 13 342

sales and marketing 71 193 57 317 46 395

Audit, lawyers' fees and other consulting services 40 904 35 521 25 049

bad debts 9 079 7 091 7 532

Total other operating expenses 367 827 327 754 276 657

39

Visma Annual report 2005



NOTE 8   FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

(NOK 1 000) 2005
IFRS
2004

NGAAP
2003

Financial income includes the following items:
Dividend/transfer from investments 6 000 1 000 0

Gain on sale of shares 0 35 115 14 236

Other interest income 6 651 7 449 15 339

Foreign exchange gains* 173 343 37 548

Other financial income 759 3 142 9 150

Total financial income 13 583 47 049 76 274

2005 2004 2003

Financial expenses include:
Interest expense 11 095 10 390 496

Loss on sale of shares in subsidiaries 0 0 2 841

Loss on sale of shares 0 567 0

Foreign exchange losses* 292 3 598 5 800

Other financial expenses 2 652 3 274 7 014

Total financial expenses 14 039 17 829 16 151

* Foreign exchange gains/losses are in all material respects associated with inter-company items that represent true foreign exchange risk for the Group

NOTE 9   TAX ON ORDINARY PROFITS

Major components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2005 and 2004 are:

(NOK 1 000) 2005 2004

Current income tax chargeTax payable 24 880 13 667

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years (938) 1 649

Changes in deferred taxes 27 869 (28 839)

Charged directly against equity 0 1 091

Income tax expense 51 811 (12 432)

Below is an explanation of why the tax expense for the year does not make up 28% of the pre-tax profit. 28% is the tax rate of the parent company Visma ASA

(NOK 1 000) 2005 2004

Ordinary profit before tax 184 130 195 150

28% tax on ordinary profit before tax 51 557 54 642

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years (938) 1 649

Permanent differences 3 456 1 454

Different tax rate in some group companies (590) 246

Dividend received (1 674)

Recognition of negative goodwill related to deferred tax assets in acquired units * 0 (77 712)

Tax reform 2004 0 4 976

Tax losses carried forward not recognised 0 2 313

Tax expense 51 811 (12 432)

* In certain cases Visma  acquires companies where net assets in the acquired operations, including the full nominal value of net deferred tax assets/liabilities, exceed the consideration paid. The shortfall 
in market value (negative goodwill) associated with acquired deferred tax assets in the form of temporary differences and/or tax losses to be carried forward is recognized as reduced tax at the time of the 
acquisition.
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nOTE 9 COnTinuEd

deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets Consolidated balance sheet Consolidated income statement

(NOK 1 000) 2005 2004 2005 2004

Current assets/liabilities (469) (959) 490 9 732

fixed assets/long term liabilities 110 354 105 471 27 379 51 082

losses carried forward (146 853) (183 222) 0 (89 652)

Net deferred tax liability / (asset) (36 969) (78 710) 27 869 (28 839)

recognised deferred tax asset (89 799) (116 358)

recognised deferred tax liability 52 829 37 648

Net deferred tax liability / (asset) (36 969) (78 709)

no deferred tax assets or liabilities are recorded directly to equity. Dividend payments to the share holders of Visma AsA do neither effect the group's current nor deferred tax.

The tax losses carried forward relate in all material respect to aquisitions made. The losses are available indefinitely for offset against future taxable profits in the companies in which the losses arose and 
through realistic tax planning strategies within different tax regimes. 

nOTE 10   SHARES in SuBSidiARiES
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Visma AsA and the subsidiaries listed in the following table:

Visma ASA (NOK) Registered office Holding % ** Book value ***

Visma software AsA* oslo 100.00 % 230 719 249

Visma services AsA* oslo 100.00 % 318 938 045

Visma f&p services AsA* oslo 100.00 % 100 021 115

Total 649 678 409

Visma Software ASA (NOK)

Visma unique As oslo 100.00 % 63 141 487

Visma software norge As oslo 100.00 % 115 186 965

Visma Avendo As oslo 100.00 % 4 554 324

Visma iT As oslo 100.00 % 16 326 991

Visma retail As* bærum 75.20 % 27 730 906

Visma software Holding Ab* stockholm 100.00 % 21 623 803

Visma software A/s* Copenhagen 100.00 % 21 306 624

Visma software oy* Helsinki 100.00 % 252 129 387

Visma Cultus As Husøysund 50.10 % 2 853 940

Kompetanseweb As oslo 50.15 % 2 237 300

Vestfold butikkdata As* barkåker 61.00 % 130 970 800

Visma Ajourit As oslo 100.00 % 21 790 778

Visma bizweb As oslo 100.00 % 7 005 251

Total 686 858 556

Visma Services ASA (NOK)
Visma services norge As bergen 100.00 % 121 463 734

Visma services eiendomsoppgjør As oslo 100.00 % 115 000

Visma services lillestrøm As lillestrøm 70.00 % 6 394 370

Visma services levanger As levanger 75.49 % 4 199 250

Visma services sverige Ab stockholm 100.00 % 86 083 828

Visma services DanmarkA/s* Copenhagen 79.92 % 56 798 240

oy Visma services infocon Ab Helsinki 100.00 % 34 958 089

Total 310 012 511
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nOTE 10 COnTinuEd

Visma F&P Services ASA (NOK) Registered office Holding % ** Book value ***

Visma Advantage As oslo 100.00 % 40 667 342

Visma Advantage Ab stockholm 100.00 % 2 987 297

Visma personnel As oslo 100.00 % 10 100 000

Visma Collectors Ab* Helsingborg 50.10 % 42 742 800

Visma Collectors As Trondheim 100.00 % 11 584 400

Total 108 081 839

*    parent company in subgroup
**   for all Group companies, the holding is equal to the proportion of voting capital.
***  book value in the company accounts of the individual company in the Group. in the company accounts shares in subsidiaries are recognized according to the cost method.

nOTE 11   BAnK dEPOSiTS And lOAnS

The parent company has cash, bank deposits, etc. of noK 450 361 000 (noK 619 498 000 in 2004), including noK 150 550 000 placed in short-term money market mutual funds.
The consolidated accounts include cash, bank deposits, etc of noK 361 164 000 (noK 396 744 000 in 2004)

Group account facilities
in norway and sweden Visma has separate group account facilities, with nordea, in which most of the norwegian and swedish units participate.
The Group account facility has been established to promote optimal cash flow management.

(NOK 1 000) Visma ASA CONSOLIDATED

Group bank facility sweden 0 112 655

loan against cash pool sweden 0 (127 575)   

nordea likviditet iii against cash pool 54 072 54 072

Group account norway 40 273 40 273

Net Group Bank Facility Nordea 94 345 79 425

With respect to nordea, Visma has the following covenants requirements associated with the Group account facility and loan financing in sweden:
(ebiTDA*2)-net interest-bearing debt >0, interest cover >3, positive net cash balances. for subsidiaries participating in the scheme, this is formally regarded as an ordinary receivable/liability without priority 
which the company holds with regard to Visma AsA. The subsidiaries however have access to the cash balance in their daily operation, and for the subsidiaries the funds are therefore classified in the balance 
sheet as cash and cash equivalents. in norway Visma also have an unused credit facility of noK 200 000 000. The conditions are 7-days nibor (norwegian interbank offered rate) + 0.75%.

Bond loan
The board of Directors at Visma AsA decided on 19 may 2004 to raise a minimum of noK 250,000,000 as the first trance of an open bond loan with a borrowing limit of noK 500,000,000  Any extension of 
the borrowing limit shall be communicated to bondholders via the norwegian registry of securities and the oslo stock exchange. The loan was opened on 27 may 2004 and will be closed at the latest five 
banking days before 27 may 2008. The bonds each have a nominal value of noK 100,000 and rank pari passu. The official name of the loan is "floating-rate Visma AsA open bond issue 2004/2008"; the isin 
(registration number) is no 001 022521.2 The conditions are 6-month nibor (norwegian interbank offered rate) + 2.25%

  
    Visma ASA

(NOK 1 000) 2005 2004

isin no. no001 0225212 250 000 250 000

own holding 0 (74 000)

Outstanding 250 000 176 000

Deferred establishment expenses 2 350 3 323

Accrued interest 933 618

Capitalised gain on sale own holdings 1 893 0

nOTE 12   OTHER RESERVES

The following describes the nature of the equity component other reserves:
net unrealized gains/loss on avaiable-for-sale investments. This includes fair value changes of shares classified as avaiable-for-sale

Foreign currency translation 
The foreign currency translation is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries.
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nOTE 13   SHARE CAPiTAl And SHAREHOldER iSSuES

At 31.12.2005, the company's share capital consists of 32 000 062  shares with a nominal value of noK 5. At the same date, the company had  2 212 share-
holders. one share entitles the holder to one vote.

20 largest shareholders at 31.12.2005: Holding (%)

nordea bank sweden 9.10 %
national insurance scheme fund 8.25 %
p-invest As 7.54 %
morgan stanley 5.27 %
Jp morgan Chase bank 5.01 %
Jp morgan Chase bank 4.89 %
Goldman sachs 4.59 %
nordea bank finland 2.89 %
state street bank 2.23 %
A/s skarv 1.56 %
rG Holding As 1.51 %
Klp insurance 1.46 %
Jp morgan bank lux 1.45 %
bank of new york 1.41 %
bank of new york 1.38 %
Citibank 1.29 %
Delphi norway 1.28 %
Jp morgan Chase bank 1.25 %
mellon bank 1.21 %
pictet & Cie bank 1.12 %
other 35.31 %
Total 100.00 %

At the annual general meeting in 2004, the board was authorized to issue up to 1 700 000 shares for option plans for the Group's employees.

(NOK) Number Period Exercise price

Total - option plan 1 700 000
outstanding options at 31.12.2005 - other employees 20 500 feb 2006 55.50
exercised 2005 756 250
Available 923 250

At the annual general meeting in 2004, the board was authorized to issue up to 3 000 000 shares through issues or acquisitions, or in connection with mergers.

Total 3 000 000
Available 3 000 000

At an extraordinary general meeting in september 2004, the board of Directors was authorized to allow the company to acquire shares in Visma AsA with a 
nominal value of up to noK 15 000 000 divided into up to 3 000 000 shares, with an upper limit of 10% of the total share capital at any time. The lowest amount 
that may be paid for the shares is noK 5. The highest amount that may be paid for the shares is noK 180. The board is free to decide on the method of acquisi-
tion and any subsequent sale of the shares, as long as a general principle of equitable treatment of shareholders is followed. The company's own shares are used 
primarily for settlement with existing shareholders in the case of acquisitions and take-overs of operations. on 31.12.2005, Visma AsA owns none own shares.
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nOTE 14   SHARES OwnEd By THE BOARd And EXECuTiVE EmPlOyEES

At the end of the financial year, members of the board and executive employees owned the following shares in the company:

Number shares Percentage holding

Board of Directors:
svein ramsay Goli 110 000 0.34 %
Ann-marie nilsson 3 000 0.01 %
per boasson* 2 778 698 8.68 %

Executive employees:
Øystein moan 180 000 0.56 %
Tore bjerkan 150 000 0.47 %
bjørn A.ingier 104 838 0.33 %
Ada Kjeseth 30 000 0.09 %

for information regarding options and compensation for executive employees and board members, please see notes 13 and 15

per boasson* 349 560
p-invest As 2 413 999
Ventor As 15 139
Controlled by Per Boasson 2 778 698

nOTE 15   COmPEnSATiOn OF KEy mAnAGEmEnT PERSOnnEl OF THE GROuP

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

(NOK 1 000) 2005 2004

CEO salary and other remuneration
salaries and benefits in kind 3 283 3 288
bonus 2 200 2 000
options exercised in 2005 8 250 0
Total remuneration 13 733 5 288

The Ceo's contract of employment provides for a termination payment equivalent to 18 months' salary.
The Ceo was awarded a total of 90.000 share options in 2006. The share options were allocated on the terms described in note 23.

(NOK 1 000) 2005 2004

Remuneration to the management (does not include CEO)
salaries and benefits in kind 5 036 5 043
options 4 469 927
Total remuneration 9 504 5 971

The management group was awarded a total of 75 000 share options in 2006. The share options were allocated on the terms described in note 23.
no loans have been granted to or security pledged for members of the management group.
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nOTE 15 COnTinuEd
Loans to employees
in some countries, employees are entitled to loans from the Group. The interest on loans to employees is not lower than the market interest rate. The other bor-
rowing terms and conditions are generally the same as normal market terms and conditions. loans to employees comprised TnoK 215 and TnoK 4 493 in 2005 
and 2004 respectively. 

Remuneration to the board of directors
The board will propose to the general meeting that the board's remuneration for 2005 is set at TnoK 625, allocated as follows:
Chairman of the board noK TnoK 200, tree directors TnoK 100, one director TnoK 75,  two directors TnoK 25. in addition, the Chairman of the board has 
received an allowance of noK 72 000 for consulting services provided. share options exercised by the board's members are described in note 23.

Remuneration to the Auditors

Other Group

(NOK 1 000) Visma ASA companies Total

Audit services 387 3 475 3 862
other attestation services 50 190 240
Tax services 689 632 1 321
other services 677 960 1 637
Total 1 802 5 257 7 059

All fees are exclusive of VAT

nOTE 16   SECuREd dEBT And GuARAnTEE liABiliTiES
(NOK 1 000)

Debtor Actual guarantee debtor Creditor Value

Visma AsA* Visma AsA Guarantee limit lease of premises 10 000
Visma AsA Visma AsA exense AsA contract 6 500
Visma AsA Visma software AsA byporten Ans lease of premises 8 010
Total guarantees 24 510

*of which noK 4 599 000 had been drawn at 31.12.05

nOTE 17   COmmiTmEnTS

Operating lease commitments - Group as lessee
The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain motor vehicles and iT machinery. These leases have an average duration of between 1 and 5 years with 
no renewal options included in the contracts. There are no restrictions placed upon the lessee by entering theses leases. future minimum rentals payable under 
non-cancellable operating leases at 31 December are as follows:

(NOK 1 000) 2005 2004

Within one year 23 500 22 851
After one year but no more than five years 70 499 68 552
more than five years 0 0
Total 93 998 91 402

in addition the Group has entered into commercial property leases related to the Group's office buildings. These leases have remaining terms of between 1 and 4 
years. in 2005 a 10 year lease contract for a new head quarter in oslo was signed, starting first quarter 2009. future minimum rentals payable under non-cancel-
lable operating leases as at 31 December are as follows:

(NOK 1 000) 2005 2004

Within one year 91 120 81 866
After one year but no more than four years 332 360 327 464
more than five years 236 000 0
Total 659 481 409 330
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nOTE 18   inFORmATiOn On CAlCulATiOn OF EARninGS PER SHARE

The calculation is based on the following information:

(NOK 1 000)

IFRS
2005

IFRS
2004

NGAAP
2003

majority's share of the Group's profit/loss for the year (noK 1 000) 124 652 204 670 196 042
Time-weighted average number of shares 31 December 32 000 062 31 243 812 31 243 812
Earnings per share (NOK) 3.90 6.55 6.27
effect of dilution:
share options 9 123 203 146 207 845
Time-weighted average number of shares 31.12 including options 32 009 185 31 446 958 31 451 657
Diluted earnings per share (NOK) 3.89 6.51 6.23

earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent company by the weighted aver-
age number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent company by the weight-
ed average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the effect of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

on the 1st of february 2006, a total of 650 000 options at a strike price equal to the closing price on 31 January 2006, noK 105.50, have been granted to manage-
ment at the Visma Group. The strike price will be increased by 8% per year. The share options were allocated on the terms described in note 23

nOTE 19   FinAnCiAl mARKET RiSK

Financial risk
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise of Bond loan, overdraft, cash and short-term deposits. The main risks arising from the 
Group’s financial instruments are cash flow interest rate risk, liquidity risk, foreign currency risk and credit risk. 

The board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarized below.

Cash flow interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk for changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long- term debtobligations with a float-
ing interest rate. This is counteracted by the fact that the company does not have net interest-bearing debt, and any increase in interest 
rates will have a positive or neutral effect on the company's net financial items.

Foreign currency risk
The Group is exposed to changes in exchange rates, especially Swedish and Danish kroner as well as the euro, as a  significant part of the 
Group’s income is in foreign currency. The risk is limited by the fact that associated costs are in the same currencies.  The Group has not en-
tered into forward contracts or other agreements to reduce the  company's foreign exchange risk. 

Credit risk
The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit 
terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that 
the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. The risk that counterparties do not have the financial ability to fulfil their obligations is 
regarded as low, as bad debts have historically been low. The Group has made provisions for all receivables that are older than 180 days and 
outstanding receivables represent about 37 days' turnover as of 31.12.2005.

With respect to credit risk arising from other financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale financial assets, the 
Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments.

no agreements have been entered into regarding set-off or other financial instruments that minimize credit risk in the Visma Group.

Liquidity risk
The Group regards its liquidity as good, and no decision has been taken to introduce measures to change the liquidity risk. Due dates for 
accounts receivable are maintained, and no renegotiation or redemption of other financial assets has been considered.
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nOTE 20   AVAliABlE-FOR-SAlE FinAnCiAl ASSETS

(NOK 1000)
Registered 
office

Holding 
% **

31 Dec
2004

Effect of 
 transition to

IAS 32 and 39

Fair value
1- jan- 2005

IFRS
Additions and

reductions
Fair value

 adjustments
31 Dec

2005

Shares listed
exense AsA oslo 12.87 % 11 994 600 12 594 3 797 (4 988) 11 402
superoffice AsA oslo 9.66 % 13 007 39 193 52 200 11 000 63 200

Shares unlisted
Kvestor Holding As oslo 15.58 % 8 813 2 242 11 055 505 (2 134) 9 426
iTet As bodø 12.00 % 9 000 31 9 031
shares held by Vestfold butikkdata As - 7 650 153 7 803
other - 1 373 1 373 2 062 3 435
Total 35 187 42 034 77 221 23 013 4 062 104 297

Avaiable-for-sale financial assets consist of investments in ordinary shares, and therefore have no fixed maturity date or coupon rate.
The fair value of the unlisted shares has been estimated using a valuation technique based on asumptions that are not supported by observable market prices
or rates. management believes the estimated fair values resulting from the valuation technique which are recorded in the balance sheet are reasonable and the
most appropriate at the balance sheet date. management has estimated the potential effect of using reasonable possible alternatives as inputs to the valuation
model and has quantified this as a reduction in fair value of apporximately TnoK 7 122 using less favourable assumptions and an increase in fair value of
approximately TnoK 11 184 using more favourable assumptions.

nOTE 21 - imPlEmEnTATiOn OF iFRS

Visma AsA first adopted ifrs in 2005, with a date of transition to ifrs of 1 January 2004. Visma AsA's last financial statement under nGAAp were for the year 
ended 31 December 2004.

Reconciliation of equity at 1 January 2004 (date of transition to IFRS)

Equity 31.12.2003 - N GAAP Note  1 045 573 
Dividends 21.4  70 299 
Total adjustements  70 299 
Equity 1.1.2004 - IFRS  1 115 872 

Reconciliation of equity at 31 December 2004
Equity 31.12.2004 - N GAAP Note  1 082 500 
Contracts & Customer relationships 21.1  88 910 
Goodwill 21.2  (8 421) 
Deferred tax liability 21.3   (34 158) 
Dividends 21.4  85 920 
Total adjustements  132 252 
Equity 31.12.2004 - IFRS  1 214 752 

Reconciliation of income statement 2004
Net profit 2004 - N GAAP Note  153 911 
Amortisation Contracts & Customer relationships 21.1  (18 893) 
Amortisation Goodwill 21.2  71 494 
Tax expense 21.3  1 070 
Total adjustements  53 671 
Net profit 2004 - IFRS  207 582 
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nOTE 21 COnTinuEd

Note 21.1 Contracts & Customer relationships

under nGAAp, Visma did not allocate excess value of business combination to contracts and customer relationships. under ifrs excess value of business combi-
nations will be allocated to identifiable intangible assets such as purchased rights and contracts and customer relationships, and the residual excess value 
will be allocated to goodwill. for the income statement this will have an affect on the amortization of contracts and customer relationships. Visma amortizes con-
tracts and customer relationships on a straight-line basis over its useful life which is estimated to 4-7 years.

Visma has under ifrs allocated a part of the goodwill recognised under nGAAp as contracts and customer relationships. Additionally Visma, under nGAAp, 
translated goodwill from foreign operations to the reporting currency using the exchange rate ruling at the date of transaction. under ifrs intangible assets from 
a business combination, including both contracts and customer relationships and goodwill, are translated using the exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet 
date. This will effect the book value as well as the amortizations of intangible assets as the exchange rate fluctuate.

Note 21.2 Goodwill

Goodwill is not amortized under ifrs and this effect is reversed in the ifrs income statement. 

under nGAAp, Visma allocated mainly all of the excess value of the business combinations as goodwill. for operations acquired during 2004, Visma have under 
ifrs reallocated the identified values related to “contracts and customer relationships” from goodwill .

under nGAAp, Visma translated goodwill from foreign operations to the reporting currency using the exchange rate ruling at the date of transaction. under ifrs 
goodwill from a business combination are translated using the exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date.

The difference between the fair values of tax amortizations included in the recorded amount of contracts and customer relationships identified in business combi-
nations and the corresponding value of the deferred tax liabilities recorded at nominal value is recorded as goodwill.

Note 21.3 Tax

under nGAAp, Visma allocated mainly all of the excess value of the business combination as goodwill. under ifrs excess value of business combinations will be 
allocated to identifiable intangible assets as intellectual properties and contracts and customer relationships, and the residual excess value will be allocated to 
goodwill. According to both nGAAp and ifrs, deferred tax liabilities arising from the initial recognition of goodwill are not recognised. in accordance with ifrs 3 
business Combinations, any deferred tax assets or deferred tax liabilities arising from identifiable asset are recognised at the acquisition date.

some of the goodwill recorded as at 1 January 2004 is tax deductible. under both ifrs and nGAAp Visma is recording deferred tax liabilities related to tempo-
rary differences concerning this part of goodwill. As goodwill is not amortized under ifrs in 2004 the temporary differences and the corresponding deferred tax 
liabilities are changed under ifrs compared to nGAAp.

Note 21.4 Dividends

under ifrs, dividend cannot be classified as a liability until the entity has an obligation to pay the dividend,  which generally is not until dividend is approved by 
the general meeting. Visma has under nGAAp at  31 December 2003 allocated TnoK 70 299 as dividend (short-term liability) and TnoK 85 920 at 31.12.2004.  
under ifrs, dividend is a part of the equity until it is approved by the general meeting and at that point reclassified as a liability until it has been paid to share-
holders.
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nOTE 22   imPAiRmEnT TESTinG OF GOOdwill 

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to 11 cash generating units for impairment testing as follows:

software division
services division
financial & productivity services division

1 software norway
2 software sweden
3 software Denmark
4 software finland
5 services norway
6 services sweden
7 services Demark 
8 services finland
9 financial & productivity services norway

10 financial & productivity services sweden
11 financial & productivity services Denmark

Software divisions cash-generating units
The recoverable amount of the software units has been determined based on a value in use calculation. To calculate this, cash flow projections are based on 
financial budgets approved by senior management covering a five-year period (2006-2010). The discount rate applied to cash flow is 9 % (2004: 9 %) and cash 
flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using a 0 % growth rate (2004: 0 %). based upon the similarity of market conditions within the nordic market, 
the same method for determining recoverable amounts has been applied across the different countries

Services division cash-generating units
The recoverable amount of the services units has been determined based on a value in use calculation. To calculate this, cash flow projections are based on 
financial budgets approved by senior management covering a five-year period (2006-2010). The discount rate applied to cash flow is 9 % (2004: 9 %) and cash 
flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using a 0 % growth rate (2004: 0 %). based upon the similarity of market conditions within the nordic market, 
the same method for determining recoverable amounts has been applied across the different countries

Financial & Productivity Services division
The recoverable amount of the f&p services units has been determined based on a value in use calculation. To calculate this, cash flow projections are based on 
financial budgets approved by senior management covering a five-year period (2006-2010). The discount rate applied to cash flow is 9 % (2004: 9 %) and cash 
flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using a 0 % growth rate (2004: 0 %). based upon the similarity of market conditions within the nordic market, 
the same method for determining recoverable amounts has been applied across the different countries.
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nOTE 22 COnTinuEd

Carrying amount of goodwill
               Carrying amount

(NOK 1.000) 2005 2004

software division 602 955 485 323
services division 372 365 323 775
financial & productivity services division 102 443 32 580
Total 1 077 763 841 678

software norway 363 902 270 356
software sweden 54 748 38 477
software Denmark 3 635 0
software finland 180 669 176 490
services norway 223 600 217 682
services sweden 74 038 71 590
services Demark 50 222 9 221
services finland 24 504 25 282
financial & productivity services norway 64 944 32 580
financial & productivity services sweden 36 151 0
financial & productivity services Denmark 1 348 0
Total 1 077 763 841 678

The recoverable amounts for the different cash generating units are higher than the carrying amounts and no impairement loss is recognised in 2005

Key assumptions used in value in use calculation of Software, Services and Financial & Productivity Units for 31. December 2005 and 31. December 2004

The following describes each key assumption on which management has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

budgeted gross margins - the basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross margins achieved in the year imme-
diately before the budgeted year, increased for expected efficiency improvements.

Discount rates applied - the discount rates applied in valuation of recoverable amount is 9 % in all units. 
The value assigned to the key assumption is consistent with external information resources.

other factors/assumptions:
The ebiTDA margin in the software division and the financial & productivity division has been set equal to the ebiTDA margin in 2005. 
The ebiTDA margin in the services division is gradually improved to 10% in 2007 from 8,2 % in 2005. 

estimated cash flows and growth rates used in determining the value in use exclude any estimated future cash inflows or outflows expected to 
arise from future restructuring or from improving or enhancing the asset's performance.
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nOTE 23   SHARE BASEd PAymEnT

Employee and Board Member Share-option plans
share options were granted in the period february to July 2002 for employees and board members that were in service for Visma AsA.
All options were granted before november 7th 2002 and there has not been made any changes that increased fair value of these option plans after January 1st 
2005. Therefore, ifrs 2 share-based payment has not been applied in accounting for share option plans. There are no cash settlement alternatives related to 
these plans.

The following table illustrates the number (no) and weighted average exercise prices (WAep) of, and movements in, share options during the year:

"2005
No."

"2005
WAEP"

"2004
No."

"2004
WAEP"

outstanding at the beginning of the year 776 750 55.7 1 061 864 55.7
forfeited during the year 0 0 (58 666) 55.7
exercised during the year (756 250) 55.6 (226 448) 56.8
expired during the year 0 0 0 0
Outstanding at the end of the year 20 500 776 750

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for the options exercised was 83 noK

The following persons of Group management and board members exercised their options in 2005

Number Exercise price

Øystein moan 300 000 noK 55.50
Tore bjerkan 100 000 noK 55.50
bjørn A. ingier 50 000 noK 55.50
Ada Kjeseth 12 500 noK 55.50
svein ramsay Goli 30 000 noK 55.50
Gunnar bjørkavåg 40 000 noK 55.50
Gunnar bjørkavåg 5 250 noK 60.50
Knut ro 40 000 noK 55.50
Ann marie nilsson 25 000 noK 55.50
Total 602 750

At the annual general meeting in 2004, the board was authorized to issue up to 1 700 000 shares for option plans for the Group's employees. 

on the 1st of february 2006, a total of 650 000 options at a strike price equal to the closing price on 31 January 2006,
noK 105.50, have been granted to management at the Visma Group. The strike price will be increased by 8% per year. The term of the options is up to 4 years. 
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The annual accounts for Visma AsA are prepared 
according to the norwegian Accounting Act 1998 
and generally accepted accounting principles.

SuBSidiARiES And inVESTmEnT in 
ASSOCiATE
subsidiaries and investments in associate are val-
ued by the cost method in the company accounts. 
The investment is valued as cost of acquiring shares 
in the subsidiary, providing that write down is not 
required. Write down to fair value will be carried 
out if the reduction in value is caused by circum-
stances which may not be regarded as incidental, 
and deemed necessary by generally accepted ac-
counting principles. Write downs are reversed 
when the cause of the initial write down are no 
longer present.

Dividends and other distributions are rec-
ognized in the same year as appropriated in 
the subsidiary accounts. If dividends exceed 
withheld profits after acquisition, the exceed-
ing amount represents reimbursement of in-
vested capital, and the distribution will be 
subtracted from the value of the acquisition 
in the balance sheet.

BAlAnCE SHEET ClASSiFiCATiOn
net currant assets comprise creditors due within 
one year, and entries related to goods circulation. 
other entries are classified as fixed assets and/or 
long term creditors. Current assets are values at the 
lower of acquisition cost and fair value. short term 
creditors are recognized at nominal value. fixed 
assets are valued by the cost of acquisition, in the 
case of non incidental reduction in value the asset 
will be written down to the fair value amount. long 
term creditors are recognized at nominal value.

TRAdE And OTHER RECEiVABlES
Trade receivables and other current receivables are 
recorded in the balance sheet at nominal value less 
provisions for doubtful debts. provisions for doubt-
ful debts are calculated on the basis of individual 
assessments. in addition, for the remainder of ac-
counts receivables outstanding balances, a general 
provisions is carried out based on expected loss.

FOREiGn CuRREnCy TRAnSlATiOn
foreign currency transactions are translated using 
the year end exchange rates.

SHORT TERm inVESTmEnTS
short term investments (stocks and shares are val-
ued as current assets) are valued at the lower of 
acquisition cost and fair value at the balance sheet 
date. Dividends and other distributions are recog-
nized as other investment income.

PROPERTy, PlAnT And EQuiPmEnT
property, plant and equipment is capitalized and de-
preciated over the estimated useful economic life. 
Direct maintenance costs are expensed as incurred, 
whereas improvements and upgrading are assigned 
to the acquisition cost and depreciated along with 
the asset. if carrying value of a non current asset 
exceeds the estimated recoverable amount, the as-
set is written down to the recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the greater of the net selling 
price and value in use. in assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value.
pensions
The company have pension schemes where the 
company´s commitment is to contribute to the in-
dividual employee´s pension schemes (contribution 
plans).

inCOmE TAX
Tax expenses in the profit and loss account com-
prise both tax payable for the accounting period and 
changes in deferred tax. Deferred tax is calculated 
at 28 percent on the basis of existing temporary 
differences between accounting profit and taxable 
profit together with tax deductible deficits at the 
year end. Temporary differences both positive and 
negative, are balance out within the same period. 
Deferred tax assets are recorded in the balance 
sheet to the extent it is more likely than not that the 
tax assets will be utilized.

To what extent group contribution not is 
registered in the profit and loss, the tax ef-
fect of group contribution is posted directly 
against the investment in the balance.

CASH FlOw STATEmEnT
The cash flow statement is presented using the in-
direct method. Cash and cash equivalents includes 
cash, bank deposits and other short term highly 
liquid placement with original maturities of three 
months or less.

uSE OF ESTimATES
The preparation of the financial statements requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts in the profit and 
loss statement, the measurement of assets and li-
abilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities on the balance sheet date. Actual results 
can differ from these estimates.

Contingent losses that are probable and 
quantifiable are expensed as occurred.

Accounting principles
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VISMA ASA

(NOK 1 000) Note
NGAAP

2005
NGAAP

2004
NGAAP

2003

Operating revenue
sales revenue 0 0 0
Total operating revenue 0 0 0

Operating expenses
payroll and personnel expenses 3,15 12 968 13 529 9 586
other operating expenses 7,15 6 647 5 488 5 437
Total operating expenses 19 615 19 017 15 024
Profit/loss from operating activities (19 615) (19 017) (15 024)

Financial items
financial income 8 80 491 306 378 174 523
financial expense 8 (10 410) (5 984) (1 842)
Net financial items 70 081 300 394 172 681
Ordinary profit before tax 50 466 281 377 157 657

Tax on ordinary profit 9 10 596 30 643 8 805
Profit for the year 39 870 250 734 148 852

Transfers and allocations
Allocated to dividend 96 000 85 920 70 299
Transferred to / (from) other equity (56 131) 164 814 78 553
Total transfers and allocations 12 39 870 250 734 148 852

Group contribution paid 55 996 101 302 58 825

profit and loss statement
1 JANUARY  –  31 DECEMBER
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balance sheet
31 DECEMBER 2005

VISMA ASA  (noK 1 000)

ASSETS Note
NGAAP

2005
NGAAP

2004
NGAAP

2003

Fixed assets

Intangible assets
Total intangible assets 0 0 0

Tangible fixed assets
property 5 5 390 5 390 3 007
Total tangible fixed assets 5 390 5 390 3 007

Financial assets
shares in subsidiaries 10 649 678 516 722 226 801
other long-term receivables 726 2 715 4 122
Total financial fixed assets 650 405 519 437 230 923
Total fixed assets 655 795 524 827 233 930

Current assets

Receivables
inter-company receivables 323 864 200 379 465 050
other current receivables 11 2 350 3 323 0
Total receivables 326 215 203 702 465 050
shares 20 15 791 11 994 11 994
Cash and cash equivalents 11 450 361 619 498 321 263

Total current assets 792 366 835 194 798 308
Total assets 1 448 161 1 360 021 1 032 237
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VISMA ASA  (noK 1 000)

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY Note
NGAAP

2005
NGAAP

2004
NGAAP

2003

Equity

Paid-in capital
share capital 160 000 156 219 156 219
own shares 0 (1 600) (450)
share premium reserve 38 272 0 0
Total paid-in capital 12 198 272 154 619 155 769

Retained earnings
other equity 851 150 883 915 738 983
Total retained earnings 851 150 883 915 738 983
Total equity 12 1 049 422 1 038 534 894 752

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liability 9 44 499 55 679 65 522
other long-term liabilities 11 250 000 176 000 0
Total non-current liabilities 11 294 499 231 679 65 522

Current liabilities
Trade creditors 0 9 147
public duties payable 4 731 1 008 892
Allocated to dividends 96 000 85 920 70 299
other current liabilities 3 509 2 871 627
Total current liabilities 104 240 89 808 71 963
Total liabilities 398 739 321 487 137 485
Total liabilities and equity 1 448 161 1 360 021 1 032 237

secured liabilities and guarantees 16

Oslo, 17 February 2006

Svein Ramsay Gol
Chairman of the Board

Ann-Marie Nilsson
Member of the Board

Knut Ro
Member of the Board

Gunnar Bjørkavåg
Member of the Board

Ossian Hellers
Member of the Board

Per Boasson
Member of the Board

Øystein Moan
CEO
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Cash flow statement
1 JANUARY  –  31 DECEMBER

VISMA ASA (noK 1 000)

2005 2004 2003

Ordinary profit / loss before tax 50 466 281 377 157 657

Write-down (reversal of write-down) short-term share investments 0 0 (8 624)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of short-term share investments 0 0 (314)
Taxes paid 0 0 0

Cash flow from operations 50 466 281 377 148 720

Changes in inventory, accounts receivable and trade creditors 9 (138) 0
Change in other accruals (170 842) 223 337 (245 618)

Net cash flow from operations (120 367) 504 577 (96 899)

sale of (investment in) shares (103 797) (289 921) 278 408

Net cash flow from investments (103 797) (289 921) 278 408

Change in long-term liabilities 74 000 176 000 0
net cash flow from share issues 42 053 0 0
payment of dividend (85 920) (70 114) (46 788)
purchase of own shares 24 894 (22 307) (3 203)
Net cash flow from financing activities 55 027 83 579 (49 991)

Net cash flow for the year (169 137) 298 235 131 518

Cash and cash equivalents 1.1 619 498 321 263 189 745
Cash and cash equivalents 31.12 450 361 619 498 321 263
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nOTE 3   PAyROll EXPEnSES

VISMA ASA

(NOK 1 000) 2003 2004 2005

salaries 7 084 9 111 9 181
employer's national insurance contributions 1 633 3 797 2 884
pension expenses 59 91 85
other personnel expenses 811 530 818
Total 9 586 13 529 12 968

Average number of employees 4 4 4

nOTE 7   OTHER OPERATinG EXPEnSES
VISMA ASA

(NOK 1 000) 2003 2004 2005

rent 298 386 896
other office expenses 366 603 293
Telephone, postage 87 79 82
Travel expenses 268 268 389
Vehicles and transport 611 589 586
leasing expenses 144 68 136
sales and marketing 906 588 883
Audit, lawyers' fees and other consulting services 2 758 2 907 3 382
Total other operating expenses 5 437 5 488 6 647

nOTE 8   FinAnCiAl inCOmE And EXPEnSES

VISMA ASA

(NOK 1 000) 2003 2004 2005

Financial income includes the following items:

Dividend/transfer from subsidiaries 126 105 279 481 62 285
Gain on sale/reversal of write-down of shares 8 624 0 0
other interest income 39 787 26 897 18 025
foreign exchange gains* 8 0 129
other financial income 0 0 52
Total financial income 174 523 306 378 80 491

Financial expenses include:
interest expense 0 5 983 9 714
foreign exchange losses* 664 1 66
other financial expenses 1 178 0 630
Total financial expenses 1 842 5 984 10 410

* foreign exchange gains/losses are in all material respects associated with inter-company items that represent true foreign exchange risk for the Group
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nOTE 9   TAX ViSmA ASA

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are calculated on the basis of the temporary differences between book values and tax-related values in the balance sheet.  All 
calculations are based on a nominal tax rate of 28%. 

specification of income tax

(NOK 1 000) 2003 2004 2005

Tax payable 0 0 0
Change in deferred taxes (14 291) (9 843) (10 667)
Adjustment for previous years 0 0 (513)
Charged against equity * 220 1 091 0
effect of Group contribution 22 877 39 395 21 776
Tax on ordinary profit 8 805 30 643 10 596

* The tax effect of share issue costs and gains/losses on purchase and sale of own shares is recorded directly against equity.

summary of temporary differences making up the basis for the deferred asset/deferred tax liability

(NOK 1 000) 2004 2005

Current assets/liabilities (1 600) (1 038)
fixed assets/long-term liabilities 200 454 159 962
Net temporary differences 198 854 158 924

net (deferred tax asset)/deferred tax liability 55 679 44 499

Visma AsA's tax payable for the year has been computed as follows:            

(NOK 1 000) 2004 2005

ordinary profit / loss before tax 281 377 50 466   
permanent differences (3 923) 213   
Change in temporary differences 51 662 38 095   
Dividend received from norwegian subsidiaries (188 419) (11 000)   
net group contribution received / (paid) (140 697) (77 774)
Taxable ordinary revenues 0 0

explanation of why the tax expense for the year does not make up 28% of the pre-tax profit

(NOK 1 000) 2003 2004 2005

ordinary profit / loss before tax 157 657 281 377 50 466
28% tax on ordinary profit / loss before tax 44 144 78 786 14 130
Tax effect of:
Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years 0 0 (513)
permanent differences (30) (8) 59
Dividend and group contributions received from norwegian companies (35 309) (52 757) (3 080)
Tax reform 2004 * 0 4 623 0
Tax expense 8 805 30 643 10 596

*  recording in the profit and loss account of deferred tax assets /liabilities  associated with temporary differences on shares that lapsed on 26 march 2004 due 
to changes in norwegian tax rules associated with the taxation of disposal of shares.
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nOTE 12   mOVEmEnT in EQuiTy

VISMA ASA

(NOK 1 000) Share capital Own shares Share prem. reserve Other equity Total Equity

Equity at 01.01.05 156 219 (1 600) 0 883 915 1 038 534
share issue 3 781 38 272 42 053
realization of own shares 1 600 23 294 24 894
Dividend own shares 71 71
net profit/loss for the year 39 870 39 870
Allocated to dividend (96 000) (96 000)
Equity at 31.12.05 160 000 0 38 272 851 150 1 049 422

for further information regarding notes, see notes to the consolidated accounts.
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CORPORATE GOVERnAnCE in 
ViSmA
(In accordance with the Norwegian rec-
ommendation of December 2004)

The success of any business depends 
on good relationships with its interest 
groups. This is a critical success factor, 
also for Visma. A good reputation and 
sound financial development are con-
ditions for building and maintaining the 
trust of important target groups, such 
as customers, investors, employees, 
suppliers, partners and authorities. 
This requires control of the enterprise 
through good management and gov-
ernance mechanisms.

Open and honest communication 
and equitable treatment of the compa-
ny's shareholders are also important to 
increase shareholder value and gain in-
vestors' confidence. 

Visma's policy for corporate govern-
ance appears below. Other principles 
for business management are reflected 
in Visma's accounting policies. In addi-
tion, much of Visma is approved under 
ISO 9001. The company's quality manu-
als, accounting policies and corporate 
governance policy will help to ensure 
that our attitudes are reflected in our 
actions in all parts of the enterprise.

indEPEndEnCE And nEuTRAliTy
Visma emphasizes independence and 
neutrality in all relationships between 
the board of directors, management 
and owners in other respects. The poli-
cy of independence, neutrality and nor-
mal business principles also applies to 
the relationships with other interest 
groups, such as customers, suppliers, 
banks and other business partners. 

 

EQuiTABlE TREATmEnT OF THE 
SHAREHOldERS And FREE 
TRAnSFERABiliTy
Visma aims to ensure that its shares 
are priced as accurately as possible. 
Shareholders are to be assured a com-
petitive return by increasing the value 
of the company’s shares and issuing 
dividends, which reflects Visma´s gen-
eral financial position and cash-flow. 

Visma's objective is that all share-
holders will have equal rights. Visma 
has one class of shares, and each share 
carries one vote at the general meet-
ing. The shares are freely transferable, 
and there are no barriers to acquisition.

All shareholders in Visma have equal 
rights to dividends. All shareholders 
have equal rights in connection with 
any capital increases. 

The company shall treat all share-
holders equally with regard to informa-
tion relevant to the share price. Visma 
is listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange 
and is bound to comply with the ex-
change's disclosure requirements. 
The company announces all price-rel-
evant information to the market via 
the exchange's notification system 
and on the company's Internet pages  
www.visma.no.

THE COmPAny'S EQuiTy CAPiTAl 
And FundinG
In principle, Visma strives for funding 
through equity capital, and to a very 
limited extent with interest-bearing 
loan capital. Visma grows fairly rapidly 
through acquisition and consolidation, 
and needs a strong and liquid balance 
sheet. The company’s most important 
assets are goodwill associated with 
the business and software, and Visma 
therefore needs a higher level of own-
ers' equity than more traditional indus-
try. The reason for this is that the intel-
lectual assets in an IT company are pri-
marily of value as long as the compa-

ny is doing well and is financially inde-
pendent. For many of Visma's assets, 
there is no "market" outside the com-
pany, and out of consideration for the 
company's shareholders Visma must 
therefore ensure that it has a strong 
balance sheet at all times, with an eq-
uity ratio of  more than 50 per cent

diVidEnd
Visma's objective is to pay a dividend 
every year. When evaluating the divi-
dend amount, the Board of Directors 
emphasizes stable development, the 
company's dividend capacity, and the 
requirements for sound equity capi-
tal as well as for adequate financial re-
sources to enable future growth. Un-
der Norwegian regulations, dividends 
are taxable for foreign shareholders 
and the company is obliged to deduct 
tax at source.

GEnERAl mEETinG
The company's general meeting is 
open to all shareholders, and all shares 
carry equal voting rights. All sharehold-
ers can participate in person or through 
a proxy. It is not possible to participate 
and/or vote over the Internet. There are 
no limitations on ownership or known 
shareholders' agreements. For the 
general meeting, 14 days' notice is giv-
en in accordance with the minimum 
time limit in the legislation. 

mATTERS COnCERninG THE 
BOARd OF diRECTORS
The Board of Directors comprises 6 
representatives elected by sharehold-
ers. All the representatives are elected 
for a year at a time at the company's 
general meeting. At Extraordinary Gen-
eral Meeting on 17 October 2005, Gott-
fred Langseth retired and 2 new mem-
bers were elected. As of 31 Decem-



63

Visma Annual report 2005

ber 2005, the Board has the following 
members:

Svein Ramsay Goli, Chairman of the Board

Knut Ro
Gunnar Bjørkavåg
Ann-Marie Nilsson
Ossian Hellers
Per Boasson

An independent nomination committee 
elected by the general meeting puts 
forward proposals for Board members. 

Visma aims for balance in the com-
position of the Board of Directors, tak-
ing into account competence, experi-
ence and relevant background for the 
company's operations. It is also de-
sired that the composition of the Board 
of Directors should reflect the compa-
ny's ownership structure. The compa-
ny's management is not represented in 
the Board of Directors and there are no 
family ties to the managing director or 
other executive employees. 

Remuneration to the Board shall be 
at a competitive level to ensure the de-
sired composition of the Board. Per-
formance-related remuneration to the 
Board of Directors is not used. There 
are no option programmes for the 
Board of Directors as of 31 December 
2005. 

COmPEnSATiOn OF EXECuTiVE 
EmPlOyEES 
Visma emphasizes being an attractive 
employer. The company wishes to at-
tract executive employees with rele-
vant experience. The company must at 
all times adapt its compensation sys-
tem so that it is competitive in the mar-
ket. Executive employees are compen-
sated on terms adapted to the market. 

There are also incentive plans in the 
form of agreements on bonuses for re-
sults achieved and growth in sales. The 
tax regime in Norway and in other Nor-

dic countries as well as the forthcom-
ing generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples make option plans less attrac-
tive, and likely to be less common in 
future. 

As of 31 December 2005, Visma 
has no option plans except for the re-
maining options according to the op-
tion plan of 2004, described in note 13 
in the financial statement.
Details regarding compensation to 
management and the Board of Direc-
tors are described in notes to the finan-
cial statements.

THE BOARd OF diRECTORS' wORK
Every month, the Board of Directors 
receives the complete accounts and 
balance sheet for the company as well 
as a management report that describes 
the trends of the past month. In two 
extended Board meetings every year, 
the company's strategy is reviewed 
and discussed by the Board of Direc-
tors.

The Board of Directors will evaluate 
its work on an annual basis and inform 
the nomination committee.
The Board of Directors has a pragmat-
ic attitude to possible bids to take over 
Visma. The Board of Directors' prima-
ry responsibility in such cases will be 
to maximize earnings for all sharehold-
ers, and at the same time to take care 
of the interests of staff and customers. 
Any transaction that can be perceived 
as a sale of the company's main busi-
ness will be put forward to the general 
meeting of Visma ASA.

inFORmATiOn And 
COmmuniCATiOn
Visma strives to report quarterly fig-
ures and other price-sensitive informa-
tion as early as possible. Very early re-
porting reduces the possibility for leaks 
of information and contributes to equi-

table treatment of all shareholders. 
The responsibility for IR and price-

sensitive information is concentrated 
with the Visma ASA’s management.

The company's management has 
regular meetings with large sharehold-
ers, where topics such as corporate 
governance and overall strategy in par-
ticular are discussed. The importance 
of not discussing subjects that may 
be perceived as price-sensitive is high-
lighted. 

AudiTOR
The Group uses the same audit firm 
in all subsidiaries in all markets where 
the company is active. The total offer 
for the audit is handled and approved 
only by the CFO. No agreements may 
be made with local auditors. The audi-
tor is used extensively as a consultant 
in financial due diligence in connection 
with the acquisition of new business 
and in tax issues. The auditor is not 
used as a consultant in strategic ques-
tions, or in tasks related to operations 
in the company. Only the CFO in con-
sultation with the CEO approves con-
sulting assignments. 

The auditor participates in the Board 
meeting which deals with the financial 
statements. At the same meeting, the 
auditor explains his view on the com-
pany's accounting policies, risk areas, 
internal control routines and account-
ing processes. 

The auditor's compensation is re-
ported at the annual general meet-
ing and described in notes to the ac-
counts.

    “Visma has one 
      class of shares, and each  

            share carries one vote at 
the general meeting.”
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SHAREHOldER POliCy
Visma aims to ensure that its shares 
are priced as correctly as possible. 
Shareholders are to be assured a com-
petitive return by increasing the value 
of the company’s shares and issuing 
dividends, which reflect Visma’s gener-
al financial position and cash flow. Ex-
isting shareholders will have pre-emp-
tion rights to subscribe for any new 
shares offered for sale.

inVESTOR inFORmATiOn
Visma ASA was first listed on the Oslo 
Stock Exchange on 25 November, 
1995. Visma believes that openly pro-
viding information and maintaining a 
dialogue with shareholders and the fi-
nancial markets are key elements in 
ensuring that the share price reflects 
the company’s earnings and underlying 
value. Relevant information will be pro-
vided as quickly and accurately as pos-
sible in the form of notices to the Oslo 
Stock Exchange with additional pub-
lishing on our website, www.visma.
com. The company also publishes its 
quarterly and annual reports with pres-
entations online through web stream-
ing on visma.com. 
Visma ASA had a market value of NOK 
3 200 million on the Oslo Stock Ex-
change on 31 December 2005, com-
pared with NOK 2 390 million on  
31 December 2004. Visma ASA is reg-
istered in Verdipapirsentralen (the Nor-
wegian Central Securities Depository), 
with Nordea as registrar and issuer. The 
shares have the ISIN NO 0003054405. 
The company’s registration number in 
the Norwegian register Brønnøysund is 
NO 936 796 702, and the ticker code 
on the Oslo Stock Exchange is VIS.

SHARE CAPiTAl
On 31 December 2005, the compa-
ny’s share capital amounted to NOK  
160 000 310, divided into 32 000 062 
ordinary voting shares each with a par 
value of NOK 5.00, fully paid up and 
registered by name.

VOTinG RiGHTS And TRAdinG 
RESTRiCTiOnS
The company has only one class of 
share, with each ordinary share carry-
ing one vote at general meetings. The 
only restrictions on trading in the com-
pany’s shares are those affecting the 
insiders. The insiders are represented 
by the Board, the CEO, the CFO, the 
IRO and Company Secretary of Visma 
ASA, the Managing Directors and the 
Financial Directors in three the divi-
sions. The Articles of Association place 
no limit on how many shares a share-
holder can own or vote for.

SHAREHOldERS
On 31 December 2005, Visma ASA had 
2 212 shareholders. At year-end, 59 per 
cent of the company’s share capital 
was owned by foreign investors (45per 
cent in 2004). The 20 largest sharehold-
ers held 65 per cent of the company’s 
shares on 31 December 2005 com-
pared with 50 per cent last year. 

SHARE PRiCE
Visma’s shares opened at NOK 77 on 
2 January 2005 and closed at NOK 100 
on 30 December 2005, a rise of 30 per 
cent over the year, compared with an in-
crease of 10 per cent in 2004. Dividend 
paid out in 2005 amounted to NOK 
2.75 per share (NOK 2.25 in 2004). The 
highest share price achieved in 2005 
was NOK 105 (9. December 2005), and 
the lowest price was NOK 68.75 (29. 
April 2005). 

A total of 23.5 million Visma-shares 
were traded in 2005 (28.2 million in 
2004). The average per day of trade 
was 92 905 compared with 111 597 in 
2004. In 2005 the share had 253 trad-
ing days out of 253 possible. 

OPTiOn SCHEmES
The company operates option schemes 
for the management and employees. 
Further information of options is de-
scribed in note 13.

TAXATiOn OF diVidEndS
Under Norwegian regulations divi-
dends are taxable for foreign share-
holders and the company is obliged to 
deduct tax at source.

    “The Articles of Association  
    place no limit on how many 
shares a shareholder 

     can own or vote for.”
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VISMA ASA – 20 largest shareholders as of 31 december 2005 

no shareholding percentage name Country nationality Account type

1 2 912 431 9.10 % nordea bank sweden A sWe sWe nominee

2 2 639 684 8.25 % folketrygdfondet nor nor ordinary

3 2 413 999 7.54 % p-invest As nor nor ordinary

4 1 685 774 5.27 % morgan stanley And C Gbr Gbr nominee

5 1 603 438 5.01 % J. p. morgan Chase bank Gbr Gbr ordinary

6 1 564 481 4.89 % Jpmorgan Chase bank Gbr Gbr nominee

7 1 467 517 4.59 % Goldman sachs intern Gbr Gbr nominee

8 923 720 2.89 % nordea bank plc finl fin fin nominee

9 714 212 2.23 % state street bank & usA usA nominee

10 500 000 1.56 % A/s skarv nor nor ordinary

11 484 797 1.52 % rG Holding As nor nor ordinary

12 467 100 1.46 % Klp forsikring Aksje nor nor ordinary

13 462 720 1.45 % J. p.  morgan bank lux luX luX nominee

14 450 421 1.41 % bank of new york. br bel luX ordinary

15 441 800 1.38 % bank of new york. br bel Cym nominee

16 411 240 1.29 % Citibank. n A Gbr Gbr nominee

17 409 200 1.28 % Delphi norge nor nor ordinary

18 400 000 1.25 % J. p. morgan Chase bank Gbr usA nominee

19 386 013 1.21 % mellon bank as Agent usA usA nominee

20 357 491 1.12 % pictet & Cie banquie CHe CHe nominee

Total 20 696 038 64.70 %
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